UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

The hormonal control of subcellular calcium and the possible effects on contractility in the rabbit uterus

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4ps403h1

Author

Lockey, Michael Lewis John

Publication Date 1978

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

The Hormonal Control of Subcellular Calcium and the possible Effects on Contractility in the Rabbit Uterus

by

Michael Lewis John Lockey

B.Sc. (University of Edinburgh) 1963 M.S. (University of San Francisco) 1970

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Endocrinology

in the

GRADUATE DIVISION

(San Francisco)

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA



ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

MICHAEL LEWIS JOHN LOCKEY



19**79**

.

ABSTRACT

The Hormonal Control of Subcellular Calcium and the possible Effects on Contractility in the Rabbit Uterus

by

Michael Lewis John Lockey

In striated and smooth muscle, it has been well established that the intracellular level of free ionic calcium regulates contraction: removal of this divalent cation from the sarcoplasm is accompanied by relaxation. Both contraction and relaxation require energy derived from ATP, and in smooth muscle there is evidence that during relaxation calcium ions are metabolically sequestered in the microsomal compartment, which functions as a calcium sink. Progesterone promotes the relaxation of uterine muscle, the inhibition of spontaneous contraction and the maintenance of pregnancy, which could be by a mechanism which modulates microsomal calcium sequestration. It was therefore decided to look for changes that progesterone might produce at this level.

Initially, uterine microsomal fragments were prepared from immature New Zealand White Rabbits which had been pretreated with either estrogen, progesterone, or a combination

of estrogen plus progesterone. The microsomes were then examined by electron microscopy for mitochondrial contamination and this was followed by the measurement of ATP dependent calcium binding. Uterine microsomes were incubated with ⁴⁵Ca together with ATP in buffer and the incubation was stopped by rapid filtration; the uptake was consistently greater in animals treated with progesterone alone; was maximal in eight minutes; and was saturable and reversible.

Thermodynamic analysis of the binding indicated a greater concentration of binding sites and increased affinity in the progesterone microsomes (n = 9.4 um/g protein and $K_d = 3.1.10^{-7}$ M) compared to the estrogen microsomes (n = 7.2 um/g protein and $K_d = 8.27.10^{-7}$ M). Dose-response and time course of activation and inactivation curves following a single injection of progesterone showed excellent correlation between increases in microsomal calcium binding and inhibition of spontaneous uterine contraction. However, Arrhenius plot analysis showed a single transition temperature in all preparations and suggested that ATPase activity was independent of steroidal hormonal status. This was confirmed by direct Ca-ATPase determination which showed no significant variation following different hormonal pretreatment.

It was concluded that progesterone promotes the metabolic sequestration of Ca by microsomes in amounts which could keep the cellular level below that required for

contraction and that this increase in calcium storage is a result of a greater concentration in uptake sites which bind calcium with increased avidity and not due to increases in available energy from ATP due to changes in enzyme levels.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I must express my indebtedness to Dr. Alan Goldfien, who was responsible for the initiation of this work. Particular thanks are due to Dr. Donald M. McDonald, for the electron micrographs, and to Dr. James M. Roberts for the invaluable advice and suggestions during the course of this study.

I wish to also thank Dr. Guisseppi Inesi and Dr. Manuel Morales for their excellent technical instruction regarding the assay procedures which were used in this investigation; and particular appreciation is given to Dr. Isidore S. Edelman for his critical acumen and admirable suggestions.

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife Elizabeth, who has given me constant encouragement and shown boundless patience during the course of this undertaking.

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	ii
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
HISTORICAL ANALYSIS	7
THE NATURE OF THIS STUDY	40
MATERIALS AND METHODS	43
RESULTS	55
DISCUSSION	97
SUMMARY	105
LITERATURE CITED	107

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page
1	Electron micrograph of crude mitochondrial pellet, obtained at 15,000g from progest- erone treated rabbit uterus	68
2	Electron micrograph of microsomal pellet, obtained at 100,000g from progesterone treated rabbit uterus	69
3	The effect of temperature on the equili- brium time course of calcium binding by a microsomal fraction prepared from rabbit uterus pretreated with ovarian hormones	70
4	Logarithmic plot of calcium accumulation by rabbit uterine microsomes as a function of reciprocal temperature following hor- monal treatment with estrogen, estrogen plus progesterone, progesterone or diluent only	71
5	The effect of ATP concentration on calcium binding by rabbit microsomes pretreated with ovarian steroids	72
6	Influence of magnesium ion concentration on calcium binding by hormonally pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes	73
7	Calcium uptake by pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes at 37 ⁰ C in the absence (A) and presence (B) of 5 mM ammonium oxalate	74
8	Representative direct plot of the equilib- rium binding of Ca ⁺⁺ to progesterone pre- treated rabbit uterine microsomes measured by filtration	75

Figure

9	Reversibility of ATP dependent calcium bind- ing examined by the addition of 10 ⁻⁵ M CaCl ₂ to microsomes incubated with 4 ⁵ Ca for ten minutes	76
10	Representative Scatchard plot of equilibrium data shown in Figure 8	77
11	Effect of <u>+</u> Propanolol in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	78
12	Effect of <u>+</u> Propanolol in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	79
13	Effect of a single injection of progesterone on spontaneous uterine contractions and microsomal calcium binding	80
14	Time course of activation and inactivation of inhibition of spontaneous contraction and microsomal calcium binding following a single 5 mg injection of progesterone	81

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Effect of hormonal pretreatment on calcium uptake by rabbit uterine microsomes at 37 ⁰ C, pH 7.2	82
2	Effect of pH on calcium accumulation by hormonally pretreated rabbit uterine micro- somes	83
3	Equilibrium dissociation constants (K _d) and maximum number of binding sites (n) in hormonally pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes	84
4	Half times of dissociation of rabbit uterine microsomes and ⁴⁵ Ca	85
5	Effect of Norepinephrine on rabbit uterine microsomal calcium binding	86
6	Effect of Phenylephrine in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine micro- somal calcium binding	87
7	Effect of Phenylephrine in the absence of l uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	88
8	Effect of Phentolamine in the absence of l uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	89
9	Effect of Phentolamine in the presence of l uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	90
10	Effect of Isoproterenol in the absence of l uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	91

Table

11	Effect of Isoproterenol in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	92
12	Effect of <u>+</u> propanolol in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	93
13	Effect of <u>+</u> propanolol in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	94
14	Effect of Dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding	95
15	Effect of hormonal pretreatment of rabbit uterine microsomal Ca-ATPase activity	96

INTRODUCTION

In analyzing the hormonal control of uterine muscle, on a species to species basis, progesterone has emerged as the only common factor concerned at some stage or other in the maintenance of pregnancy (Finn and Porter, 1975). This appears to be due to an inhibitory effect of progesterone on uterine contraction, (Schofield, 1957; Csapo, 1961b), but it is apparent that except in the rabbit and possibly the rat and mouse, it does not necessarily involve a direct action In the cow there is no direct evidence on the myometrium. that progesterone acts on myometrial musculature, although circumstantial findings suggest that it may. In sheep and women the picture is so confused that a definite statement on the role of progesterone cannot be made and in the guinea pig, there is reason to believe progesterone does not inhibit the myometrium (Finn and Porter, 1975).

The rabbit, because of its convenient size and availability, has been the most frequently used experimental model in myometrial investigations; thus more is known about the regulation of the uterine muscle in this animal than any other.

It has been established in the rabbit that the action

of progesterone reduces the amplitude of contractions in a dose related manner and that when amounts of progesterone in excess of 5 mg are given, all spontaneous mechanical activity ceases (Csapo and Takeda, 1965). However, when a single injection of progesterone is administered to the rabbit, little change is recorded for 4-6 hours after which a gradual decrease in the amplitude of contractions is observed, until after 10-12 hours activity reaches a minimum. The long interval between injection of progesterone and its effect has never been explained (Csapo and Lloyd-Jacob, 1961; Fuchs, 1964).

It has been a long established notion that, in contrast to progesterone, estrogen has an activating effect on myometrial contraction and this was demonstrated in early work both <u>in vitro</u> (Frank <u>et al.</u>, 1925; Newton, 1933; Robson, 1933b) and <u>in vivo</u> (Parkes and Bellerby, 1927; Parkes, 1930; Reynolds, 1933). As better biochemical techniques have developed, it has been shown in rabbit uterus that estrogen maintains actomyosin concentrations, elevates ATP levels, and maximizes muscle tension (Csapo, 1950, 1961a). However, if estrogen is administered to the pregnant doe, it fails to produce uterine contraction (Schofield, 1962) and, indeed, prolongs pregnancy (Allen and Heckel, 1936, 1939; Westman and Jacobsohn, 1937; Robson, 1937, 1939; Keyes and Nalbandov, 1967).

This implies that estrogen and progesterone are not necessarily antagonistic, that estrogen is important in the synthesis and maintenance of the contractile system (Csapo, 1961a) and that progesterone maintains pregnancy by a mechanism which is unknown. In an attempt to explain the above, Csapo (1956, 1963) has formulated "the progesterone block hypothesis," which although controversial, is widely accepted. He has postulated that uterine contraction and, particularly, parturition cannot take place until the effects of progesterone are removed; this is supported by the knowledge that continuous progesterone administration in late pregnancy suppresses labor (Heckel and Allen, 1937). It has been thus concluded that estrogen can influence myometrial activity only after the blocking action of progesterone has been withdrawn (Finn and Porter, 1975). Assay data in the rabbit has shown that parturition is heralded by a fall in plasma progesterone titres (Mikhail, Noall and Allen, 1961; Hilliard, Spies and Sawyer, 1968; Challis, Davies and Ryan, 1973), thus corroborating similar early findings of Knaus (1926) and Schofield (1957, 1960).

The possibility that another myometrial inhibiting factor exists, or that progesterone may induce the production of a secondary inhibiting factor has been considered. When a cross-circulation technique is used to join pregnant rabbits to nonpregnant, ovariectomised rabbits, equipped

with intrauterine balloons, the latter experience a very rapid reduction in uterine activity. The rapidity is such that almost complete inhibition of myometrial activity occurs within one hour of cross circulation; this contrasts sharply with the 10-12 hours latency of progesterone effects (Porter, 1968, 1974).

An intracellular injection of calcium (but not potassium, sodium, or magnesium) into striated muscle elicits a mechanical response even in a calcium free solution (Sandow, 1965) and it has been shown that a minimum intracellular calcium concentration of 0.2 uM is essential for the activation of the contractile proteins (Weber, 1959; Ebashi, 1961a; Portzehl, Caldwell and Ruegg, 1964). It is currently believed that calcium regulates the major contractile proteins actin and myosin through the presence of two other proteins, tropomyosin and troponin. Tropomyosin is thought to normally obstruct the binding of actin and myosin, but in the presence of calcium ions, it is moved out of position by troponin, allowing actin-myosin interaction (Ebashi and Kodama, 1965, 1966). Relaxation of muscle is achieved by the action of a sarcoplasmic reticulum which removes and sequesters calcium from the sarcoplasm, thus restoring tropomyosin to its obstructive position.

The mechanism in smooth muscle is much less clear though considerable evidence suggests that a rise in free

intracellular calcium activates contraction, and a fall leads to relaxation (Bianchi, 1961; Edman, 1963; Daniel, 1964). The lack of a highly developed sarcoplasmic reticulum in smooth muscle has led to the idea that the increase in cytosol calcium concentration essential to activating the contractile system is achieved by transport of calcium into the cell across the plasma membrane (Ebashi and Endo, 1968). An alternate theory is that the endoplasmic reticulum plays a role in smooth muscle similar to that of the sarcoplasmic reticulum in striated muscle, namely the uptake, storage, and release of calcium (Devine et al., 1972) and Gabella (1971) has suggested that pinocytotic vesicles observed in smooth muscle represent a structure analagous to the T system in striated muscles, which is responsible for triggering calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Both Devine (1972) and Carsten (1973a) have reported that human uterine and bovine myometrial cells have a well developed sarcoplasmic reticulum during pregnancy and evidence supporting this concept is derived from data which shows that smooth muscle rich in sarcoplasmic reticulum is better able to maintain its mechanical activity in a calcium free medium than smooth muscle with a paucity of sarcoplasmic reticulum.

The manner in which progesterone may affect the sequestration, storage, and release of calcium by the uterine

endoplasmic reticulum and its effect on uterine contraction is the subject of this dissertation.

HISTORICAL ANALYSIS

Hormonal control of myometrial activity

Regnier de Graaf first published a description of the bovine corpus luteum in 1672 but it was more than two centuries later before Prenant (1898) suggested that it might be an endocrine organ. Shortly thereafter, the classic experiments of Fraenkel (1903) emphasized that, in the rabbit, corpora lutea were essential for the maintenance of pregnancy; this was followed by a series of papers (Athias, 1919; Blair, 1922; Keye, 1923; Corner, 1923; Frank, Bonham and Gustavson, 1925) suggesting that the ovary was important in the regulation of myometrial activity. In 1926 Knaus used posterior pituitary extract in an attempt to induce abortion at various stages of pregnancy in the rabbit, but found that the uterus was refractory to this extract and concluded that this was due to the presence of corpora In 1929 Allen and Corner demonstrated that abortion lutea. could be prevented by the administration of luteal extract, but a more precise association became possible when progesterone was identified and isolated from the corpus luteum of pregnant sows (Wintersteiner and Allen, 1934). Subsequently, it was found that pure progesterone alone was

capable of inhibiting abortion (Portman, 1934; Courrier and Kehl, 1938; Allen and Heckel, 1939; Wu and Allen, 1939).

These findings were amplified by both <u>in vitro</u> studies, which tended to indicate the inhibitory effect of progesterone on the oxytocin response (Makepiece, Corner and Allen, 1935; Robson, 1935a,b), and <u>in vivo</u> investigations, which revealed the inhibitory effect of progesterone on spontaneous uterine activity (Reynolds, 1935). Prior to 1930 the <u>in vitro</u> studies of the myometrium invariably used an isotonic method, but in that year, Reynolds developed a technique for establishing a uterine fistula in the rabbit into which a balloon could be inserted to record activity in the conscious animal. It was mainly based on this work and the ability of progesterone to replace corpora lutea, that the concept of progesterone as the "defence hormone of pregnancy" was developed.

Meanwhile, in other endocrine research the role of estrogen in pregnancy was being investigated. Despite a considerable divergence of results, a series of <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> experiments (Frank <u>et al</u>., Parkes and Bellerby, 1927; Parkes, 1930; Newton, 1933; Robson, 1933; Reynolds, 1933) had suggested that estrogen facilitated uterine contraction. This led to the concept of the estrogen/progesterone ratio mechanism of pregnancy maintenance. This idea postulated that the behaviour of the myometrium was determined

not by the asbolute quantities of either estrogen or progesterone circulating in the blood, but by their ratio; thus, if the effective amount of progesterone in the plasma exceeded the effective amount of estrogen, the uterus was quiescent, whereas if estrogen were in excess the uterus was active. This formed an explanation for the onset of labor, and had numerous proponents (Robson, 1933, 1935a; Reynolds, 1935; Cohen, Marrion and Watson, 1935; Courrier and Kehl, 1938).

However, evidence against the ratio theory gradually accumulated over several decades and it was superceded by the "progesterone withdrawal" and "progesterone block" theories. Schofield (1962) administered 25-30 ug/day of estrogen subcutaneously to the pregnant doe and found that it did not interrupt pregnancy; indeed, it confirmed earlier reports that such treatment prolonged pregnancy presumably due to a luteotrophic effect (Allen and Heckel, 1936; Westman and Jacobsohn, 1937; Robson, 1937, 1939; Heckel and Allen, 1938, 1939). Csapo and Lloyd-Jacob (1961) carried out placental dislocation in the rabbit and measured the interval until abortion occurred. They then combined this procedure with ovariectomy and estrogen treatment; the interval until abortion took place was no shorter than when placental dislocation alone was performed (Porter, Becker and Csapo, 1968), thus showing that the administration of

estrogen to an animal with waning progesterone titres consequent to ovariectomy did not hasten ensuing abortion. It was established by several investigators that the administration of estradiol to rabbits, even in doses as high as 50 ug/day did not increase the dose of progesterone required to produce myometrial refractoriness (Csapo and Corner, 1952; Schofield, 1954; Coutinho and DeMattos, 1968), and studies of estrogen treatment in other animal systems failed to produce evidence that an increase in estrogen was abortifacient or that the ratio theory was tenable (Greene, Burrill and Ivy, 1940; Dewar, 1968).

The concepts of "progesterone withdrawal" being crucial to the preparatory events of parturition was advanced as evidence against the ratio theory mounted (Csapo, 1956, 1963; Mikhail, Noall and Allen, 1961) and support of the withdrawal theory was provided by Hilliard, Spies and Sawyer (1968) with chemical assay data which showed that at parturition in the rabbit there was a dramatic fall in plasma progesterone titres. These findings corroborated the earlier discovery of Heckel and Allen (1937, 1939), that the continuous administration of progesterone in late pregnancy suppressed labor and subsequently, on the basis of more quantitative data, Csapo formulated the "progesterone block hypothesis".

Csapo's hypothesis was based on observations of

myometrial electrical activity; he had observed in the uterus that progesterone reduced the synchrony of electrical phenomena and that a 5 mg dose almost abolished electrical activity completely. Csapo thus argued that progesterone impaired the electrocoupling of the myometrial cells, reducing or blocking contraction. This action persisted until the hormone was removed.

In 1973, the first systematic study was made of estrogen and progesterone concentrations in peripheral rabbit blood, collected throughout the course of pregnancy. Using the radioimmunoassay technique, Challis, Davies and Ryan determined daily the amounts of estrone, estradiol - 17 beta and progesterone in the arterial plasma of pregnant rabbits. They found that the concentration of progesterone gradually increased during gestation until around mid-pregnancy when the highest concentrations were observed; this was followed by a gradual decline until term. The values of estrone in the plasma did not vary over a range that was statistically significant and although the estradiol - 17 beta showed greater variability, the most dramatic change occurred in the mean ratio of progesterone to estradiol - 17 beta. This ratio increased during the first part of pregnancy, remained constant during the mid and latter part and then declined precipitously on the last day before birth. This finding prompted Challis to revive the concept that the estrogen-

progesterone ratio was the important parameter in the termination of pregnancy and he argued that although in the rat the fall of progesterone on the last day of pregnancy was precipitous (Csapo, 1956, 1969) and contrasted with the gradual decline observed in the rabbit, in both animals a spectacular increase in the estrogen-progesterone ratio occurred prepartum.

One important point that remained unexplained by Challis related to the rate of recovery of the uterus following progesterone treatment in non-pregnant rabbits. It had been observed to be characterized by a gradual resumption of mechanical activity over approximately a sixty hour period. This point also remained unexplained by Csapo's progesterone block hypothesis since during the period of declining progesterone titres in late pregnancy in the rabbit there had been virtually no increase in uterine mechanical activity.

In 1968 Porter raised the idea that an alternate component, capable of inhibiting myometrial activity, might be present in plasma, and, in 1974, the same investigator using a cross circulation technique demonstrated the presence of a frequency modulating factor in the plasma of pregnant rabbits which produced rapid changes in myometrial activity compared with the sluggish response observed after the administration of progesterone alone. When non-pregnant rabbits were cross circulated with progesterone treated does

alone, no effect was seen and the existence of a secondary myometrial inhibitory factor acting in conjunction with progesterone in maintaining pregnancy was postulated (Porter, 1974). Such a factor explained both the lag periods unaccounted for by Challis and Csapo and, in addition, the

3-5 day lag periods observed in procedures designed to induce premature delivery by the administration of agents, such as dexamethasone, which reduced plasma progesterone and, presumably, myometrial progesterone (Challis, 1974). It was reported that during this lag period of lowered progesterone concentration (Porter and Challis, 1975), there was no increase in uterine activity indicating that in the rabbit progesterone withdrawal alone was inadequate to precipitate parturition immediately.

The chemical nature of the putative second substance remains unknown although a relaxin-like compound has been predicted (Finn and Porter, 1975) similar to a myometrial inhibitory factor found in the guinea pig (Porter, 1972). It is true that high titres of relaxin have been measured in late pregnancy in the rabbit (Zarrow and Rosenberg, 1953) but attempts to demonstrate myometrial relaxing action of this substance have been unsuccessful (Finn and Porter, 1975).

It has also been postulated that the time lag in recovery from progesterone effects relates to uterine

prostaglandins biosynthesis since in the rat there is good evidence that the stimulatory effect of oxytocin on the uterus is mediated by prostaglandins. Csapo (1972) has advanced the concept that prostaglandins are "the intrinsic myometrial stimulants" and that prostaglandins expression follows removal of progesterone block. This concept is supported by the finding that administration of a prostaglandin synthetase inhibitor to pregnant rabbits prolonged gestation (Challis, 1975).

Studies on the fate of hormone molecules have recently given some insight into the biochemical action of progesterone at the molecular level. Two models have been found suitable for investigation: the uterine deciduoma reaction in rats and the induction of avidin synthesis in the chick oviduct.

The former has been used to study the implantation of the blastocyst into the 'receptive' uterine endometrium (DeFeo, 1967). It has been found that this response is facilitated by progesterone alone and that this hormone exerts a profound stimulatory effect on decidual RNA synthesis. Actinomycin D blocks the reaction suggesting the response is dependent on new RNA synthesis. So far no systems are available to investigate specific progesterone mediated changes in nucleic acid and protein metabolism in the endometrial cell transformation; however, in the chick oviduct model it has been possible to study the induction of a single new specific protein, avidin.

Studies of this system have indicated that the oviduct epithelium contains specific receptors with a high affinity Interaction of these cells involves the for progesterone. association of hormone with extranuclear receptor protein followed by the translocation of the resulting complex to the nucleus where the synthesis of new sequences of oviduct nuclear RNA is induced. This nuclear RNA is subsequently transported into the cytoplasm where the synthesis of avidin The molecular mechanism by which progesterone occurs. produces uterine quiessence is still completely unknown. However, from the evidence reviewed thus far one may speculate that progesterone in itself does not maintain pregnancy nor cause uterine inhibition, but that it may induce the synthesis of a "second messenger" which is capable of modifying smooth muscle activity. This idea gains some support from time course observations, cross circulation experiments and the avidin model (O'Malley, 1969).

Similarly, estrogen by itself appears not to give rise to uterine contraction, but in a mechanism that may be similar to that of progesterone, it gives rise to an increase in ATP and muscle protein synthesis. Additionally, estrogen appears to sensitize these contractile elements so that stimulation by prostaglandins, oxytocin or catecholamines

more readily produces contraction (Csapo and Wiest, 1969).

A major challenge of molecular endocrinology in this field will be elucidation of these mechanisms.

Control of muscle contraction by alpha and beta adrenergic receptors.

In 1906 A. R. Cushny and Sir Henry Dale, working independently, observed that in the cat, stimulation of the hypogastric nerves gave rise to contraction of the uterus in the pregnant animal and to relaxation in the non-pregnant Dale termed this phenomenon as "pregnancy reversal" animal. and found that it was also mimicked by epinephrine stimulation. In 1913, he made a similar discovery whilst monitoring changes in blood pressure in the carotid artery of the pithed cat. He found that 'adrenine' (a crude adrenal extract), when injected into the femoral vein, normally produced a marked rise in blood pressure. If however the same animal had been pretreated with ergotoxine, the effects allowed to subside, and then injected with 'adrenine', a dramatic fall in arterial pressure was recorded. In other words, a relaxing action of 'adrenine' had been unmasked when its constrictor activity had been blocked with ergotoxine.

The implications of these rudimentary observations did not reveal themselves until almost twenty-five years later when Rudolph and Ivy (1930) who were concerned with the clinical problem of uterine inertia observed that Dale's "pregnancy reversal" in the rabbit was exactly opposite from that in the cat.

A host of theories were immediately forthcoming to explain "pregnancy reversal", but the most widely accepted was that the hypogastric nerves contained both excitatory and inhibitory fibers and that during pregnancy there was a relative change in the dominance of the two systems (Gruber, 1933).

However, Langley (1901) with amazing perspicacity had previously suggested that effector cells might contain both excitatory and inhibitory substances and that myometrial response depended on the relative proportion of the two substances released during stimulation. In 1926 Gaddum, studying the effects of epinephrine on the ergotamine pretreated, isolated rabbit uterus, had advanced the idea that epinephrine (believed at that time to be synonymous with adrenergic nerve stimulation) acted on specific areas of the myometrial cell, and that ergotamine blocked a fraction of this area so that the concentration of epinephrine had to be increased to overcome the block: Gaddum's ideas had focused on the effector cell rather than the nerve fibers, but unfortunately the idea that changes took place

within the nerve fibers during pregnancy remained in vogue despite demonstration by Loewi (1921) showing chemical transmission, and the work of Cannon and associates on adrenergic transmission (1937).

Today, we know that stimulation of the hypogastric nerves releases both epinephrine together with norepinephrine irrespective of the hormonal or gravid state of the animal (Mann and West, 1951; Vogt, 1965), and that the ability to respond to stimulation resides in the effector cell. Whether the response is excitatory or inhibitory is determined by the reaction of the neurotransmitter with specific molecular sites on or within the effector cell; these sites have been named "adrenoceptors" (Dale, 1954), however we are still largely ignorant as to their precise chemical and morphological nature.

In 1948 Ahlquist classified "adrenoceptors" into two categories: he designated the nonspecific terms alpha and beta to delineate the receptors subserving the two sets of responses and formulated the classification of alpha into excitatory responses, including vasoconstriction, contraction of the uterus and ureter; and beta into those responses associated with inhibition including vasodilation and relaxation of uterine and bronchial musculature. In addition he maintained that neither were alpha receptors wholly excitatory nor were beta receptors entirely inhibitory. The response which was observed depended on the extent to which one or the other dominated. Using the Ahlquist classification, all uteri examined thus far have been found to contain both alpha and beta adrenergic receptors (Miller, 1967) and the relative dominance of either type of receptor is apparently under hormonal control. Pretreatment of immature rabbits with the gonadal steroids estrogen and progesterone has been found to alter the response to catecholamines. Specifically, uterine contraction, mediated by alpha adrenergic receptors, is enhanced in uteri from estrogen pretreated animals, whilst relaxation, the beta adrenergic response, predominates after progesterone treatment.

The response of the uteri from several species has been observed to convert from contraction to relaxation depending on the concentration of the steroids. This conversion from alpha to beta response with hormonal environment has prompted the hypothesis that alpha and beta adrenergic receptors may be structurally related and interconvertable. This general relationship has not been demonstrated experimentally.

However, some generalizations concerning alpha and beta receptor mechanisms have been established using pharmacological agents classified as agonists and antagonists. Agonists activate receptors and, whilst antagonists produce no observable effect by themselves, they reduce the effect of agonists. A careful and systematic analysis of the

actions of these agents, together with the use of radioligands has so far characterized the rate at which receptors react, their affinities, and the efficacy of drugs on these receptors.

An important breakthrough in the study of adrenoceptors was achieved by Sutherland and Rall (1958) who discovered adenylate cyclase, a membrane bound enzyme, stimulated by catecholamines and peptide hormones but not by steroids. From their finding grew the concept that cellular receptors and effectors were physically distinct when it was observed that activation of adenylate cyclase accelerated the intracellular formation of 'a second messenger', cyclic AMP, which regulated various metabolic processes. It was subsequently found that cyclic AMP occurred in all animal species, including bacteria and unicellular organisms.

The existence was then shown of a second natural universally occurring cyclic nucleotide, cyclic GMP; the cellular levels of this chemical were elevated by biological agents that produced physiological responses exactly opposite to those when tissue cyclic AMP concentrations were elevated (George <u>et al</u>., 1970; Goldberg, 1973). These observations led Goldberg (1973) to propose the dualistic or yin-yang hypothesis of biological control which stated that systems stimulated by an increase in cyclic AMP were suppressed by an increase in cellular cyclic GMP concentration. In other

words, in systems where an increase in cyclic AMP had been observed to be inhibitory, (the beta response), an increase in cyclic GMP concentration was thought to be stimulatory (the alpha response).

The discovery of the ubiquitous nature of cyclic AMP and cyclic GMP has initiated an explosive research effort producing a considerable number of publications supporting the idea that beta adrenergic effects are mediated by cyclic AMP (Andersson and Mohme-Lundholm, 1969; Kawasaki <u>et al.</u>, 1969; Walaas and Walaas, 1970; Skelton <u>et al.</u>, 1970; Kukovetz and Poch, 1970; Shinebourne and White, 1970; Krause <u>et al.</u>, 1970; Bowman and Hall, 1970) and that alpha adrenergic responses are associated with the intracellular accumulation of cyclic GMP (Ball, 1972; George, 1972). However, despite these encouraging findings the yin-yang theory cannot yet be considered proven and its establishment or rejection must await the outcome of future work.

Calcium and cyclic nucleotides as interrelated 'second messengers'.

In 1970, two investigators working independently (Rasmussen, 1970; Rubin, 1970) suggested that calcium and cyclic AMP were connected sub-cellular regulators. The available information on the interactions between these substances is still very fragmentary but cyclic AMP has been

shown to activate cellular mechanisms for the removal of calcium by sarcoplasmic reticulum (Entman, Levey and Epstein, 1969) and aortic microsomes (Baudouin-Legros and Meyer, 1973).

Bohr (1973) reported that calcium was essential for the alpha adrenergic response, prompting Williams and Lefkowitz (1976) to set out to determine if this calcium dependence was at the alpha adrenergic receptor site. They found that neither the addition nor the removal of calcium affected the number of alpha sites or the affinity of adrenergic agonists. From this it was concluded that the effect of calcium was not at the receptor but at some physically distal step in the alpha response. This conclusion agreed with one previously published by Steer, Atlas and Levitski (1975) who in an examination of receptor sites, adenyl cyclase and calcium, had proposed that, in the beta adrenergic response, the cellular binding sites for calcium were distinct from the receptor sites for hormone.

Much more work needs to be done on the relationships between calcium and cyclic nucleotides but the evidence accumulated so far indicates that they play a vital role in regulating cell activity. The available information suggests that in a wide range of systems, but not all, cyclic nucleotides modulate the levels of intracellular calcium; and it would appear that the primary intracellular second messenger

is calcium and that cyclic nucleotides play a secondary role in either dampening or enhancing the calcium signal (Rasmussen and Goodman, 1975).

Role of calcium in muscle contraction

The recognition by Galvani (1791) that a piece of metal induced the contraction of muscle was largely ignored and it wasn't until the classical studies of Ringer (1882, 1883a, 1883b) with physiological salt solutions that the way was paved for subsequent investigation of cell function and electrolyte environment. In 1907, working with mammalian cardiac muscle, Locke and Rosenheim discovered that calcium was in some way related to the coupling of chemical energy with mechanical work and shortly thereafter, Straub (1912) recorded that the removal of calcium from a solution bathing a frog's heart reduced the initial heartbeat. One year later Mines (1913) demonstrated that if calcium was excluded from Ringer's solution there occurred in heart muscle an uncoupling of action potential from contraction and he showed conclusively that although the excitatory process could proceed in the absence of calcium, under these conditions the muscle was unable to contract.

Thus, calcium was established at an early date as an integral part of the muscle contraction process but it was almost thirty years before a relationship between calcium and muscle protein was proposed by Bailey (1942). In the literature prior to 1942 the term myosin usually referred to a crude extract of protein first obtained and named by Kuhne almost a century previously. This extract consisted of a complex of myosin, as it is understood today, and another protein, actin, discovered by Straub (1942). Nevertheless, the ATPase activity of myosin had been unveiled by Englehardt and Ljubimova (1939) and myosin catalyzed dephosphorylation of ATP had provided an early suggestion that this was the energy source for muscle contraction. Bailey looked at numerous metallic ions and their ability to activate myosin ATPase: he tentatively suggested that free ionic calcium regulated myosin ATPase activity which in turn controlled muscle contraction.

At this time the molecular biology of muscle was very much in its infancy and Szent-Gyorgyi (1945, 1948) who was trying to clarify the relationship between the recently discovered actin, myosin and ATP, believed that the potassium ion was primarily responsible for the regulation of muscle contraction. However, supporting evidence for Bailey came in 1947 from Heilbrunn and Wiercinski who used a microdissection technique to inject solutions of various salts into the interior of isolated muscle fibers of the frog. The effect of the solutions was measured under the microscope and it was observed that the calcium ion, even
when highly diluted, gave rise to an immediate and pronounced shortening; this effect was not seen when any other ion normally present in muscle was used.

In the years that followed, great progress in elucidating the basic molecular features of muscle contraction was made; most of the work was done in striated muscle and in 1953 Hanson and Huxley put forward the interdigitating filament model which is still currently accepted. According to this model, the contractile material consists of a long series of partially overlapping arrays of thin actin filaments and thick myosin filaments and the space between them, the sarcoplasm, is a dilute aqueous solution of salts and other proteins. When the muscle contracts or relaxes, the model supposes that the length of the filaments remain relatively constant but that the overlapping arrays slide past each other (Huxley H.E., 1954; Huxley, A.F., 1954). The sliding force is developed as a consequence of direct physical contact, termed cross bridges, between the myosin and actin filaments.

The molecular role of calcium in the interdigitating model was completely unknown in 1953 but it was noted by Perry and Grey (1956) that the ATPase activity of extensively purified actomyosin was refractory to the absence of calcium; unlike the activity of unpurified systems it continued high when calcium was withdrawn. The significance

of this was not understood until 1965 when Ebashi dramatically showed that calcium sensitivity could be restored to such purified systems by adding back a certain protein fraction. This fraction was subsequently shown to contain two principal proteins, tropomyosin B (Bailey, 1948) and a new protein troponin (Ebashi, 1965). Ebashi (1967) then ingeniously showed that ionic calcium acted directly on the troponin moiety rather than on the actomyosin and that it also did so in sufficient amounts to activate ATPase, something which actomyosin could not do alone (Weber, 1963). It had been suspected for several years that tropomyosin was present as part of the thin actin filaments (Huxley, 1957, 1960; Perry, 1958; Hanson, 1963), and it was confirmed by Pepe (1966) using a florescent antibody technique and by Endo (1966), who also demonstrated that the troponin molecule occupied part of the actin filament. Ebashi (1965) demonstrated that troponin combined with the tropomyosin complex but not with myosin (Ebashi, 1967b; Kominz, 1967). Thus at the end of the sixties a very compelling molecular picture was emerging that troponin acted as a safety catch, functioning as an allosteric regulatory unit, preventing the activation of myosin ATPase by actin when calcium was absent, but allowing activation to occur as soon as calcium was bound to troponin.

Thus the chemical trigger setting off a contraction was

seen to be the release of calcium into the sarcoplasm, which in turn stimulated myosin ATPase giving rise to the breakdown of ATP and the formation of cross bridges. However, one important question remained unanswered: how did the muscle relax again? The first natural factor thought to effect relaxation was the socalled Marsh factor (Marsh, 1951, 1952). Marsh discovered that a specific extract of muscle prevented the in vitro syneresis of myofibril bundles in the presence of ATP and that this inhibition could be overcome by the addition of small amounts of calcium. Later, Ebashi and Lipmann (1962) confirmed that the relaxation of muscle fibers could be achieved by decreasing the concentrations of calcium ions in the intracellular fluid. Marsh's factor had been prepared by extracting striated muscle homogenates at low ionic strength; the preparations had been crude and contaminated and it was only when high speed centrifugation was readily available that the factor was purified and identified with the microsomal fragment.

In 1957 Porter and Pallade published a detailed study of the relaxing factor which they described as a system of membrane limited vesicles, tubules and cysternae associated within a continuous reticular structure forming lace-like sleeves around the myofibrils. This structure is now universally known as the sarcoplasmic reticulum. However, even after the sarcoplasmic reticulum had been morphologically

portrayed, its calcium sequestering activity was not recognized for several years and had to await the advent of radio-active calcium. Meanwhile, Fleckenstein (1954) and Mommaerts (1955) had observed that intramuscular levels of ATP were about the same during contraction and relaxation and surprisingly both processes required the presence of ATP. Thus, it was logical that shortly thereafter a theory that the concentration of ionized calcium determined whether ATP gave rise to contraction or relaxation was advanced and was supported by kinetic data on myofibrillar ATPase activity (Weber, 1959).

Ebashi (1960, 1961a, 1961b, 1962) as well as Hasselbach and Makinose (1961) discovered that fragments of the sarcoplasmic reticulum bound calcium in the presence of ATP and magnesium. Ebashi considered this binding of calcium by the reticulum as the basis of its relaxing effect (1961a, 1961b) thus concurring with a previous suggestion of Weber (1959) that the relaxation of muscle was effected by the sequestration of calcium by the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Furthermore Ebashi demonstrated that the reticulum reduced the amounts of calcium bound to actomyosin (1961a) and more detailed quantitative studies (Weber, 1963) showed that the reticulum caused maximum inhibition of syneresis and ATPase activity of myofibrils after reducing their calcium content from 2 to 1 uM/g protein. Time course experiments indicated

calcium removal was strictly parallel to increasing restraint of ATPase activity and reversal of syneresis.

A number of ancillary investigations showed that when calcium accumulation by the sarcoplasmic reticulum was inhibited by salyrgran (Hasselbach, 1961, 1964b), oleinate (Hasselbach, 1962, 1964b), cetyltrimethylammonium chloride (Hasselbach, 1964b), phospholipase (Ebashi, 1958; Martonosi, 1963), amytal (Muscatello, 1962; Carsten, 1964), ADP (Ebashi, 1962; Hasselbach, 1962) and caffeine (Nagai, 1962; Hasselbach, 1964b; Herz, 1965), relaxation by the reticulum was also inhibited. Conversely, agents which augmented calcium uptake by the reticulum, such as oxalate (Baird, 1960; Hasselbach, 1961), pyrophosphate (Baird, 1960; Martonosi, 1964a; Hasselbach, 1964b), citrate (Hasselbach 1964b) and inorganic phosphate (Lorand, 1962; Seidel, 1964; Hasselbach, 1964b) also increased the relaxation effect of the medium.

Simultaneously, Hasselbach (1961, 1963) found that the sarcoplasmic reticulum was capable of accumulating up to 8 uM calcium oxalate per mg protein which was deposited in the interior of the vesicles as a calcium oxalate precipitate (Hasselbach, 1964b). The same investigator also established that the calcium was transported against an active gradient. Calcium and oxalate moved from a level of ion activities below the solubility product in the medium to a level above the solubility product in the interior of the vesicles. Oxalate was not accumulated without calcium but calcium was accumulated without oxalate; it was concluded, therefore, that calcium was the actively transported ion.

The development of detailed cohesive theories of muscle contraction based on ion fluxes and the sliding filament theory were possible using information and data derived almost entirely from striated muscle but the numerous studies on smooth muscle have produced some bewildering differences as well as similarities.

Csapo, working in the laboratory of Szent-Gyorgyi applied the latter's extraction technique to smooth muscle and, using uterine muscle from women, rabbits, rats and cows, found that actin and myosin were present in all samples. He also found that the amounts were greater in gravid than in non-gravid uteri, but that the content of smooth muscle was only 10% of skeletal muscle.

There is considerable evidence that in smooth muscle a rise in free intracellular calcium activates contraction and a fall leads to relaxation (Durbin, 1961; Bianchi, 1961, 1968a, 1968b; Edman, 1962; Grossman, 1964; Jobsis, 1964; Weber, 1964; Daniel, 1964, 1965; Sandow, 1965; Nayler, 1966; Schild, 1967; Peachey, 1968; Winegrad, 1968). However, the source of activator calcium, whether extracellular or intracellular and the ultrastructural organization of the myosin molecules in smooth muscle has remained speculative for several decades.

Structurally, smooth muscle differs strikingly from striated, consisting of small bundles of cells separated by collagen. There are no well defined bands and the various contractile filaments do not lie in an ordered array as in voluntary muscle: both the myosin and actin filaments are irregularly distributed (Bagby, <u>et al.</u>, 1974). Isolated muscle studies have suggested that these contractile elements are grouped into fibrils, which lie obliquely to the cell axis.

The regulatory components have not been at all characterized and there is doubt whether specialized regulatory proteins exist. Ebashi, <u>et al</u>., (1966) described a tropomyosin-like compound in chicken gizzard and Carsten (1971) reported the isolation of troponin from the uterus. However, Hartshorne, <u>et al</u>., (1977) have been unable to confirm these reports.

The work of Sobieszek and Bremel (1975), in chicken gizzard, has suggested a calcium-myosin regulating mechanism of muscle contraction, reminiscent of that seen in invertebrates. If this finding is confirmed it would suggest that vertebrate smooth muscle is a primitive type of contractile cell, lacking the specialization of striated muscle.

It has been postulated that activator calcium arises from an increase in the influx of extracellular calcium ions or that it may arise from the translocation of calcium bound at the surface of the plasma membrane or concentrated at an intracellular calcium sink analagous to the sarcoplasmic reticulum in striated muscle. A large volume of indirect evidence has been presented in the literature for both possibilities.

The first paper dealing with calcium influxes into smooth muscle was published by Schatzmann in 1961, who measured ⁴⁵Ca uptake. Unfortunately, Schatzmann recorded uptakes only at incubation times of 20 and 50 minutes. However, his work did stimulate subsequent publications in which the experiments were further refined. The data obtained in the years immediately subsequent to Schatzmann's work was explained on the basis of the existence of only one type of calcium binding site (Daniel, 1963, 1964) but in 1965 it became obvious that this model was inadequate (Daniel, 1965).

Frank (1965) and Nayler (1965) had shown in striated and heart muscle sites at which calcium was loosely bound and lost rapidly by diffusion together with a second type of site at which calcium was more tightly bound and not released by depolarization. Dissociation of calcium from these latter sites could be achieved by acetylcholine or caffeine and was therefore termed pharmomechanical coupling (Somlyo, 1968).

The sites were called superficial and sequestering

sites respectively and the general hypothesis arose that calcium bound at superficial membrane sites might be released by depolarization and give rise to the release of calcium from the sequestering sites. Release of calcium from these latter sites, it was suggested, might be sufficient to initiate contraction.

The hypothesis was not universally accepted (Daniel, 1965) since it was believed by many that sarcoplasmic reticulum was absent or extremely scanty in smooth muscle and that the amounts of calcium bound at these sites would be extremely minute and very slow to exchange.

It wasn't until 1971, using electron miscroscopy, that an extensive calcium sequestering sarcoplasmic reticulum was seen in smooth muscle from the guinea pig ileum and human uterus (Gabella, 1971; Somlyo, 1971). However, these studies also revealed mitochondrial fractions with similar calcium sequestering and releasing properties. Since that time there has been lingering speculation in the literature regarding the calcium binding roles of both the smooth muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum and the mitochondria (Carafoli, 1973; Wikstron, 1974).

Mitochondria isolated from several sources have been intensively studied but quantitative questions have been hampered by difficulties which have arisen in determining the calcium binding capacity of muscle mitochondria and

whether this capacity is sufficient to be a sink for activator calcium (Ford, 1976).

Non-mitochondrial reticular preparations have also been obtained from a variety of smooth muscles but the methods of preparation and the properties of these fractions have shown a great deal of variation: it is certain that in many instances they have been a heterogeneous mixture of sarcoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane. Despite the uncertainties as to the nature of these non-mitochondrial preparations it has been reported that cyclic AMP or dibutyryl cyclic AMP increased calcium uptake in preparations from guinea pig ileum (Anderrson, 1972) and rabbit aorta (Baudouin Legros, 1973) but that there was no effect in rat uterus (Batra, 1971). Baudouin Legros (1973) reported that epinephrine increased calcium uptake in rabbit aorta microsomes and Batra (1971) obtained an increased uptake in rat uterus. Isoproterenol produced a similar increase in guinea pig ileum (Anderrson, 1972). Epinephrine has been reported to decrease net calcium uptake in other guinea pig ileum preparations (Godfraind, 1973) and in rabbit aorta microsomes angiotensin II decreased uptake of calcium. In the same preparation norepinephrine also decreased the calcium uptake (Baudouin Legros, 1973) and dibutyryl cyclic AMP had the opposite effect.

Although the results both from mitochondrial and non-

mitochondrial in vitro experiments have been seen as a promising approach to a better understanding of the roles of various smooth muscle subcellular elements, general interpretations so far have not been possible. Recently, Ford (1976) has reviewed the evidence and concluded that in smooth muscle the classical excitation-contraction couple, in which rapid membrane depolarization precedes muscle tension development, depends mainly on extracellular sources for activator calcium (Waugh, 1962; Northover, 1968; Somlyo, 1968; Somlyo, 1968; Godfriand, 1972; van Breeman, 1972). However, he is quick to point out that precise storage locations for this extracellular calcium are still unknown (Somlyo, 1968; van Breeman, 1973). He then postulates that the link between membrane stimulation and tension development is cytoplasmic calcium and that the latter event relies upon intracellular sources for activator calcium.

The morphological location of intracellular calcium sinks has recently been identified positively in a refined series of electron microscope experiments by the Somlyos (1976). These studies have again confirmed two subcellular structures capable of sequestering calcium and other divalent cations, mitochondria, in close apposition to the surface vesicles, and sarcoplasmic reticulum. The sarcoplasmic reticulum has been found in all smooth muscle examined and consists of a system of tubules which have been classified

into smooth walled and rough walled varieties.

In influx experiments extracellular markers, including ferritin, colloidal lanthanum and horseradish peroxidase, have been observed not to enter the sarcoplasmic reticulum but only into the surface vesicles. The volume of the sarcoplasmic reticulum has been estimated and appears to vary in different types of muscle; its extent within a muscle correlates well with the ability of a given smooth muscle to contract in the absence of extracellular calcium.

The outer tubules and the laminae of the sarcoplasmic reticulum approximate closely to the plasma membrane of the smooth muscle cell and Somlyo (1971) has postulated that in this region action potentials may release calcium thus activating contraction.

The same author (Somlyo, 1971, 1974) incubated strontium (an electron opaque divalent cation capable of substituting for calcium in numerous biological reactions) with vascular smooth muscle prior to electron microscopy. This procedure revealed extensive deposits of strontium in the lumen of the smooth walled, but not the rough walled, reticulum. Somlyo (1976) considered that these findings supported the concept that the sarcoplasmic reticulum in smooth muscle plays a similar role to that in striated muscle as the source of activator calcium.

The majority of the evidence described so far suggests

that there is energy dependent calcium binding to microsomal vesicles. However, there is no direct evidence, like that available for striated muscles, that the calcium found in this microsomal reticulum is released when the muscle contracts (Winegrad, 1965). On the other hand, muscles with the more abundant sarcoplasmic reticulum can still respond to external stimuli in calcium free media, whereas others that have little sarcoplasmic reticulum cannot; this correlation may be coincidental, but does support the views that calcium ions are stored intracellularily and not on surface vesicles.

Steroids and calcium

The first tentative attempt to correlate ovarian hormones, intracellular calcium and uterine contraction was made in 1950 by Walaas who injected estradiol benzoate into female rats and measured the calcium content of the uterus. He was unable to find any significant changes compared to control animals.

In 1956, Csapo undertook a more extensive study of the endocrine regulation of smooth muscle electrolytes, and, using rabbit myometrium, set out to compare the estrogen dominated uterus with that dominated by progesterone. In comparing excised uterine strips under contrasting endocrine conditions, he found exactly opposite behaviour. If rabbit

myometrium was perfused with calcium free Kreb's solution, tension rapidly declined in the estrogen dominated uterus, whereas very little change was observed if the uterus was under the influence of progesterone. Csapo interpreted this to mean that either a strong calcium complex had been formed in which calcium was not freed easily and therefore could not be washed out of the muscle or that the progesterone dominated uterus required less calcium.

In 1959 Goto and Csapo again noticed that progesterone increased the amount of bound calcium in the uterus and two years later Berger and Marshall rediscovered the earlier findings of Csapo; specifically they reported that when myometrium from both estrogen and progesterone treated animals was repeatedly washed with calcium free Kreb's solution, the time to reach complete inhibition of response was 15 minutes in estrogen pretreated muscle but 45 minutes in those pretreated by progesterone. They concluded that calcium was bound more strongly in the latter.

There is a paucity of recent work on the relationship between gonadal steroids and intracellular calcium but in a different approach Carsten (1973) isolated fragmented endoplasmic reticulum from both gravid and non-gravid bovine uteri. The specific calcium binding of both types of uterine reticular fragments were measured and compared. Carsten reported a striking increase in yield of reticulum

from the uteri of pregnant animals which when compared with non-pregnant ones was 50% higher. It was also found that the intrinsic calcium was higher in the pregnant uterus, but that the <u>in vitro</u> ATP dependent calcium binding was not statistically different between the pregnant and non-pregnant specimens. However, due to the higher sarcoplasmic reticulum yield, the calcium binding capacity of the pregnant uterus <u>in vivo</u> was computed to be significantly higher (P < 0.05).

THE NATURE OF THIS STUDY

Intracellular ionic calcium has been shown to be required for all muscle contraction and the alpha adrenergic response. These concepts are compatible but it is not known whether the role of calcium is identical in both mechanisms. However, evidence does suggest that calcium is involved in both processes at intracellular effector sites and not at plasma membrane receptors.

The beta adrenergic response is thought to be associated with an increase in intracellular cyclic AMP and there is evidence that cyclic AMP promotes the lowering of cytoplasmic calcium levels by increasing its removal by sarcoplasmic reticulum and microsomes. In striated and smooth muscle it has been well documented that such removal of calcium is accompanied by muscle relaxation.

Progesterone promotes the beta adrenergic response, the inhibition of spontaneous uterine contraction and the maintenance of pregnancy. Recent findings concerning its molecular mechanism suggest that it enters its target cell directly, forms a cytosol receptor complex and then migrates to the cell nucleus where it reacts with nuclear chromatin

resulting in the synthesis of new cytoplasmic products which modify cell function.

The time course of this mechanism of action is supported by observations that there is an onset period of approximately twelve hours before the effects of progesterone are physiologically manifested and a 60-72 hour period before the effects wear off. Additional support comes from cross-circuit experiments, in which it has been recorded that the blood from an animal with established progesterone effects can transfer these effects to another animal without the twelve hour lag period.

This study examined the manner in which the gonadal steroids estrogen and progesterone modulate subcellular calcium and attempted to correlate this with uterine muscle contractility. Since there is evidence that the microsomal compartment in uterine muscle serves as a sink for the storage and release of activator calcium, it was in order to look for changes that steroids might produce at this level. Initially, uterine microsomal fragments were prepared from rabbits treated with ovarian steroids and the fragments were characterized by electron microscopy. This was followed by the measurement of ATP dependent calcium binding by the microsomes and after standardizing the optimal <u>in vitro</u> conditions for this binding through manipulating the pH, temperature, and concentrations of ATP and magnesium ions in the incubation medium, thermodynamic determinations allowed the computations of the equilibrium time course, the maximum number of calcium binding sites and the dissociation rate constant under different hormonal dominance.

An investigation was then carried out on the <u>in vitro</u> effects of catecholamines on uterine microsomal calcium binding and an attempt was made to obtain a dose-response relationship. This was followed by a similar study using adrenergic agonists and antagonists.

Next, using data derived thus far, that suggested progesterone promoted a three-fold increase in uterine microsomal calcium binding, it was attempted to correlate this with physiological observations by comparing time course and dose-response curves of progesterone produced uterine inhibition with calcium uptake data obtained under identical conditions.

Additionally, in experiments designed to indicate a possible molecular mechanism for progesterone in this system, the <u>in vitro</u> effects of dibutyrl 3' 5' -cyclic AMP on uterine microsomal calcium binding were assayed.

Finally, in order to indicate if progesterone induces the synthesis of a microsomal bound enzyme capable of providing an increase in available energy from ATP, the activity of microsomal calcium dependent ATPase was measured from each experimental group.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The investigation was carried out on immature, female, New Zealand White rabbits weighing approximately 5 lb., obtained commercially and maintained on a standard laboratory diet* of pelleted foodstuffs guaranteed by the manufacturer to be free of estrogenic steroid hormones. The animals were allowed water ad libitum and room temperature was $78^{\circ} \pm 1^{\circ}$ F. Animals were pretreated according to a modified regimen described by Miller and Marshall (1965).

The animals were divided into four groups: the first was estrogen treated with each animal receiving intramuscularly 100 ug estradiol benzoate in sesame oil with propylbaraben 1 mg/cc as preservative every day for four days. On the fifth day the animals were used experimentally. The

*The standard laboratory diet consisted of a mixture of the following: ground yellow corn, dehydrated alfalfa meal, soybean meal, ground oats, wheat middlings, cane molasses, dicalcium phosphate, iodised salt, calcium carbonate, calcium pantothenate, vitamin B12 supplement, niacin, pyridoxine hydrochloride, riboflavin supplement, folic acid, D activated animal sterol, vitamin E supplement, vitamin A supplement, choline chloride, methionine hydroxy analogue calcium, cobalt carbonate, iron sulfate, iron carbonate, manganous oxide, copper sulfate, and zinc oxide. The guaranteed analysis was crude protein 16%, crude fat 2.5%, crude fiber 18%, ash 8%, added minerals 2.1%.

second group was estrogen plus progesterone treated; this group received estradiol benzoate injections identical to the first group, but on the fifth day and daily thereafter for four more days received, intramuscularly, 5 mg of progesterone in sesame oil with 20% Benzyl Alcohol as preservative. On the tenth day the animals were used experimentally. The third group was injected intramuscularly with 5 mg progesterone for four days and on the fifth day were used experimentally. The fourth group were control animals and were either untreated or injected with diluents only, according to the same schedule as the three experimental groups.

Preparation of the microsomes

On the day of experimentation each animal was weighed and then sacrificed using intravenous nembutal. As soon as the animal expired (within thirty seconds of the injection) the peritoneal cavity was opened and the uterine horns removed as quickly as possible. The entire procedure took less than four minutes. All adipose and connective tissue was then carefully dissected free from the exterior of the uterus, after which the horns were split open and the interior was scraped so that only the muscle layer remained. This was then weighed and the wet weight recorded.

The uterine muscle was then placed in chilled extraction

buffer consisting of a 0.25 M sucrose and 30 mM histidine hydrochloride, pH 7.2. Care was taken to insure that there was at least 5 ml buffer per gram of tissue.

The entire procedure was then transferred to the cold room at 4° C where the uterus was cut into small portions approximately 2 mm wide using cold scissors. These portions were then made into a crude homogenate using a Virtis rotating blender for 20 seconds, after which the rudimentary preparation was further homogenized using an all glass hand homogenizer. This was then centrifuged at 1000g for ten minutes to remove nuclear material, large proteins and unbroken tissue, and the supernatant was then further centrifuged at 15,000g for twenty minutes to remove mitochondria. Both centrifugations were carried out in a refrigerated Sorvall RC-2 Centrifuge.

The microsomal pellet was sedimented by centrifugation of the remaining supernatant at 105,000g for sixty minutes in a Beckman L5-65 ultracentrifuge.

Electron microscopy

Pellets were fixed in buffered 2% glutaraldehyde, (pH 7.1) post-fixed in 2% osmium tetroxide and dehydrated in methanol. They were then embedded in Epon and sectioned at 700Å using a Sorval MT 2 Ultramicrotome; sections were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and photographed on a Zeiss EM 10 electron microscope. Several sections from different preparations were examined.

Calcium uptake

Pellets were resuspended in buffer using a teflon glass homogenizer: the final uniform suspensions contained 0.1-0.3 mg protein per ml.

The microsomal suspensions were either used immediately or stored at -80° C. Under this latter condition it was found that the microsomes retained their ability to take up calcium but that this declined at a rate of 12% per 24 hours. This finding approximates that of Batra (1971) who reported that frozen microsomes from rat uterus retained 95% calcium binding activity after 18 hours and 80% activity after 36 hours.

Aliquots of microsomal protein were incubated in 5 ml plastic tubes and the calcium uptake reaction was initiated by the timed simultaneous addition of two separate solutions: the first solution contained freshly made ATP, pH 7.2; the second solution consisted of a mixture $CaCl_2$ and ^{45}Ca , pH 7.2. The concentration of these solutions was predetermined by the specific protocol for each experiment.

The reaction was terminated by filtration of 200 ul of the reaction mixture through a millipore filter (HA 0.45 u) which had been prewashed with 5 ml chilled, 0.25 KCl to decrease non-specific calcium binding to the filter (Palmer, 1970). The filter was then washed rapidly with 3 aliquots of 2 ml ice cold, calcium free, distilled water. This process took less than 5 seconds, after which the filter was removed and dried under a heat lamp. The filter was finally dissolved overnight in 5 ml Bray's solution and counted in a Hewlett Packard scintillation counter.

The ability of the microsomes to bind calcium in the absence of ATP was measured at each determination point and the amount of calcium binding to the millipore filter, in the absence of microsomes, was recorded also: corrections for these amounts were applied to all measurements.

Each determination was performed in triplicate and the microsomal protein concentration was determined by the method of Lowry (1951) using bovine serum albumin as standard.

Temperature dependence of calcium binding activity

Aliquots of microsomal protein in uptake medium were prepared from each experimental group previously described. The calcium binding activity of each of these fractions was measured in constant temperature water baths for ten minutes at 4° , 10° , 20° , 25° , 30° , 37° , and 40° C. Three such experiments were completed and the mean value at each temperature computed.

Standardization of the calcium binding assay

Effect of ATP concentration

Calcium binding by uterine microsomes was measured by the method already described at 37 °C in the presence of 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, and 7.0 mM freshly made ATP solution (pH 7.2). The uptake was plotted against the ATP concentratration and the optimum value determined.

Effect of pH

Calcium binding by uterine microsomes was measured at 37°C at the following pH values: 6.00, 6.25, 6.50, 6.75, 7.00, 7.25, 7.50, 7.75, and 8.00. Calcium binding was then tabulated at each value to determine the optimum range.

Effect of magnesium ions

Calcium binding by uterine microsomes was determined at 37°C in the presence of 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, 7.0, 8.0, 9.0, and 10.0 mM magnesium chloride. Calcium uptake was then plotted against magnesium chloride concentration.

Effect of oxalate

Equilibrium time course curves for calcium uptake by uterine microsomes were plotted at 37 °C (pH 7.2) in the presence and absence of 5 mM ammonium oxalate. Differences in uptake were determined by visual inspection.

Thermodynamic Studies

The microsomal pellet was resuspended in the following buffer:

0.25 Sucrose
50 mM Histidine Hydrochloride
5 mM Magnesium Acetate
5 mM Potassium Chloride
Calcium Chloride in various concentrations

plus 45 Ca in amounts such that the 45 Ca to calcium chloride ratio remained constant. The pH was adjusted to 7.2.

The binding of calcium to microsomal protein was allowed to proceed from 1 to 30 minutes at $37^{\circ}C$ and measured at 1 minute intervals. These data enabled the time to reach equilibrium to be calculated. Binding curves were then plotted by incubating calcium chloride with ^{45}Ca as the radioactive label for 10 minutes in concentrations ranging from 1 mM to 1 pM, from which the concentration range at which saturation occurred was determined. ATP dependent binding was estimated by subtracting non-specific binding determined in the absence of ATP from total binding, specific and non-specific, in the presence of ATP. The saturation curves were then analyzed by Scatchard Plot using a Hewlett Packard computer which plotted a least squares line with a minimum relative error of less than 1 in 10^{-3} . From the plot the maximum number of binding sites available and the equilibrium dissociation constant (K_d) was calculated.

Rate of dissociation

When a procedure is used that employs washing the sample to separate free from bound ligand, consideration of the rate of dissociation is required, in order to validate the procedure.

The time course of dissociation of calcium from the microsomal protein was determined by first allowing 45 Ca and uterine microsomes to come to equilibrium for ten minutes, at which time dissociation was initiated by either a twenty-five fold dilution of calcium free buffer, or by the addition of excess unlabeled calcium chloride (0.1 mM). The amount of radioactivity remaining bound was measured at ten second intervals for the first three minutes and at one minute intervals thereafter for twelve minutes. From this $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ was calculated.

Effect of Norepinephrine and Calcium binding

Animals were pretreated and uterine microsomal pellets obtained by the procedures already described.

Pellets were resuspended in a calcium uptake buffer which consisted of 5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM EGTA, 0.2 mM CaCl₂, 40

mM Morpholinopropane Sulfonic Acid, (MOPS), 0.1 M KCl, and ⁴⁵Ca adjusted to give approximately 10⁴ cpm. The pH was 6.8 at 37^oC.

Calcium binding was measured by the standard method described, in the presence of norepinephrine in the following concentrations: 10^{-7} , 10^{-6} , 10^{-5} , and 10^{-4} M. The binding was measured both in the presence and absence of ATP and it was attempted to obtain a dose-response relationship.

Effects of adrenergic receptor agonists and antagonists

Microsomes were prepared by exactly the same procedure as that used previously to determine the effects of catecholamines. Calcium binding was measured in the presence and absence of ATP (5 mM) and norepinephrine (1 uM), together with a wide range of concentrations $(10^{-8}, 10^{-7}, 10^{-6}, 10^{-5},$ and 10^{-4} M) of the following:

Alpha adrenergic agonist ---- Phenylephrine Alpha adrenergic antagonist - Phentolamine Beta adrenergic agonist ----- Isoproterenol Beta adrenergic antagonist -- Propanolol It was attempted to obtain a dose-response relationship in each incubation.

Time course of the effects of progesterone on uterine microsomal calcium binding and spontaneous uterine contraction

Calcium binding and spontaneous contraction

Rabbits were injected intramuscularily with 5.0 mg progesterone or the diluent. The animals were sacrificed after 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 16, 20, 24, 36, 48, 54, 60, or 72 hours and the uterus removed as described previously. The uterus was divided into two parts: one horn was used to prepare a microsomal fraction and ATP dependent calcium binding was assayed by the standard method; the other horn was cut into helical strips approximately 3.0 mm by 2.0 cm and suspended in mammalian Ringer's solution.

The temperature was maintained at 37°C and the solution bathing the muscle strip was aerated continuously with oxygen. A standard testing tension of 1-4 g was applied and isometric contractions were recorded for two hours by means of a linear force transducer in conjunction with a Grass polygraph recorder. Muscle response was expressed as millimeters of pen deflection on the chart recorder.

Dose-response relationship between progesterone, calcium binding, and spontaneous uterine contraction

The animals were divided into two subgroups. The first

group received diluent only and the second group was comprised of animals which received different dose levels of progesterone. Rabbits received a single intramuscular injection and doses of progesterone were 0.01, 0.05, 0.10, 0.25, 0.50, 1.00, 2.50, 5.00, and 10.00 mg per animal. Sixteen hours after the administration of the progesterone the animals were sacrificed and the uterus divided and treated in exactly the same manner as previously described in the time course procedures.

Effect of dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP on microsomal binding

Animals were hormonally pretreated according to the Marshall and Miller regimen already mentioned and microsomes were prepared from each uterus.

Calcium binding was measured in the presence of the following concentrations of dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP: 10^{-8} , 10^{-7} , 10^{-6} , 10^{-5} , and 10^{-4} M and it was attempted to obtain a dose-response relationship.

Determination of calcium-ATPase activity

Uterine microsomal pellets were prepared from each group as described. Using a teflon glass homogenizer, the pellets were resuspended in 20 mM MOPS, 80 mM KCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM CaCl₂ in 1% Triton X100, pH 6.8 to

give a protein concentration of approximately 100 ug/ml.

Ca-ATPase activity was assayed by the one-step method of Lin and Morales (1977) using a mixed reagent of molybdovanadate and sodium dodecyl sulfate for measuring inorganic phosphate in the presence of proteins. To measure Ca-ATPase activity, the reaction was started by adding ATP to the microsomal solution to give a final concentration of 1 mM. At standard time intervals 2 ml aliquots of microsomal suspension were pipetted into an equal volume of prepared reagent and thoroughly mixed. The absorbance of the color complex, formed by the P, and Molybdovanate was measured at 350 nm in a Zeiss PMQ 11 spectrophotometer using a cell with a one centimeter path. The absorbance of the colored solutions was read against a blank prepared in the same way, but excluding ATP. The P_i concentrations were ascertained by comparison with a calibration curve obtained using $K_2^{HPO}_4$ solutions of known concentrations as standards.

RESULTS

Electron Microscopy

The representative electron micrographs in Figures 1 and 2 show the morphology of the preparations isolated at 15,000g (Mitochondrial Fraction) and 100,000g (Microsomal Fraction) respectively, 1650 um^2 of each preparation was systematically examined for mitochondria and in the 15,000g fraction which was not used in calcium uptake determinations, the concentration of mitochondria was found to be 8.8/100um. The microsomal fraction contained no intact mitochondria in any of the sections examined and was characterized by vesicular structures between 500 and 2,000 $\stackrel{\text{O}}{\text{A}}$ in diameter, together with large numbers of ribsomes. This latter preparation was used in all calcium binding measurements.

Calcium binding by uterine microsomes

Figure 3 shows the equilibrium time course of calcium binding by uterine microsomes at 4° , 25° , and 37° C, following pretreatment with estrogen, estrogen plus progesterone, progesterone and diluent only. Equilibrium appears to be reached after 8 - 10 minutes in all reactions and the figure

shows that at 37° C the calcium uptake in the progesterone treated microsomes is approximately twice that from other groups. Table 1 lists the equilibrium calcium binding by uterine microsomes at 37° C after ten minutes incubation. The data shows a significant increase in calcium binding by all groups in the presence of 5 mM ATP (p< 0.001) when compared to the absence of ATP, and by all hormonal groups (p<0.002) when compared with diluent controls. The table further indicates a statistically significant increase in calcium binding of progesterone treated microsomes, when compared with other hormonal groups (p< 0.001), but there was no apparent difference in calcium uptake between the animals treated with estrogen and those treated with estrogen plus progesterone.

Effect of temperature on calcium binding activity

Uterine microsomal calcium binding activity was assayed at temperatures from 10° to 40° C and the results were analyzed by Arrhenius plot: the log of calcium binding activity was plotted against the reciprocal of the absolute temperature (Figure 4).

It was apparent that uterine microsomal calcium binding is temperature dependent and that it is different below and above 20° C since the linear plot exhibits a break at this temperature. The slopes enabled the energy of activation (E_a)

to be calculated within the experimental temperature ranges and it was found that activation energy below 20^oC 17.7 Kcal/mole and 10.9 Kcal/mole at temperatures above 20^oC. The activation energy appeared to be the same for all groups.

Microsomal calcium uptake as a function of ATP concentration

As shown in Figure 5, calcium binding by all rabbit uterine fractions increased with increasing ATP concentration up to 3-5 mM: this generally agreed with a previous report by Tomiyama (1974). However, at ATP concentrations above 5 mM there was a conspicuous decline in calcium binding until at 8 mM ATP calcium binding had decreased to the non-ATP level. Clyman (1976) has reported a similar inhibitory effect of ATP on calcium uptake in human umbilical artery microsomes and has postulated that changes in intracellular ATP concentration together with concomitant pH changes may be responsible for physiological chelation and sequestration of intracellular calcium; specifically, in controlling arterial patency and closure with p02 changes. However, support for this hypothesis awaits the demonstration of changes in ATP and hydrogen ion concentrations within localized compartments of the cell.

Effect Of pH on calcium binding

Calcium binding by the differentially pretreated

uterine microsomes was measured at 37[°]C following incubation for ten minutes over a pH range 6.0 - 8.0. The results are shown in Table 2 and suggest strongly that calcium uptake is strictly pH limited. There was very low uptake below pH 6.5 or above pH 7.5 with a rapid increase from pH 6.5 to 6.8 and an equally rapid decline from pH 7.2 to 7.5. Maximum uptake was between pH 6.8 and 7.2 in all preparations. This optimal pH plateau has been found to be typical in many biochemical systems, especially those involving enzyme action. Since enzymes are proteins, pH changes profoundly affect the ionic character of the amino and carboxylic group on the protein surface: additionally low or high pH values give rise to considerable denaturation and inactivation of enzyme molecules. Since the uptake of calcium by microsomes requires the presence of ATP it is likely that enzymatic factors are involved and that the control of pH in various parts of the cell is important. A marked shift in enzyme activity results if pH stability is not maintained.

Calcium uptake as a function of magnesium ion concentration

In the presence of 5 mM ATP at 37°C and pH 7.2 magnesium potentiated the maximal uptake of calcium. Increases in magnesium concentration up to 3 mM gave a concomitant increase in calcium binding, but increasing magnesium concentration above this to 10 mM had no further effect

(Figure 6). Similar findings have been reported in calcium binding experiments carried out using the sarcoplasmic reticulum from striated muscle (Ebashi, 1962; Hasselbach, 1964; Carvalho, 1967) and several hypotheses have been put forward to explain this phenomenon. It is possible that increased calcium binding is induced by the formation of a Ca-Mg-ATP complex resulting from membrane conformational changes (Onishi and Abashi, 1964) or that the calcium binding due to active transport and hydrolysis of ATP requires magnesium ions (Hasselbach, 1964).

Effect of oxalate ions

Katz and Repke (1967) have reported that when oxalate penetrates the vesicular arrangement of microsomal membranes, calcium oxalate is precipitated inside the vesicles increasing calcium uptake.

Calcium uptake by uterine microsomes was measured at $37^{\circ}C$ and followed at one minute intervals for ten minutes. This was done in the presence and absence of 5 mM ammonium oxalate. In all preparations, except blanks, the uptake of calcium was approximately tripled. This is illustrated in Figure 7.

Thermodynamic studies

The time dependence of calcium binding required the

selection of an appropriate time at which to measure the extent of ligand uptake: this was achieved by utilizing the equilibrium time course curves of calcium sequestration previously obtained (Figure 3). Direct plots of bound versus free calcium were obtained over a wide range of calcium concentrations $(10^{-3} - 10^{12}M)$ to establish if calcium binding was saturable and the range over which saturation occurred. Bound was separated from free ligand by filtration and the procedure was validated by determining the rate of dissociation of the bound ligand from the microsomes by both addition of a large excess of unlabeled calcium and by washing with a calcium free medium.

Visual inspection of the direct plots (Figure 8) and the dissociation rate curves (Figure 9) in the estrogen and progesterone pretreated preparations revealed that the calcium binding was both saturable and reversible.

Double reciprocal plots of the saturation curves could be fitted by a straight line, but since this type of plot tended to weigh most heavily the data at low substrate concentrations, giving a high reciprocal, it was not used in the calculation of the equilibrium dissociation constant (K_d) or the maximum number of binding sites (n). Instead a more accurate graphic determination of these parameters was obtained by Scatchard Plot (Figure 10) in which data at high and low concentrations were weighed more equally. The
Scatchard method of analysis (Scatchard, 1949) plots the bound/free ratio (B/F) for the ligand against the concentration of bound ligand (B). The straight line obtained has a slope equal to the negative of equilibrium association constant (-K_a) from which the equilibrium dissociation constant can be calculated (K_d). The absicca intercept gives the number of binding sites R_o, in moles/liter which can be converted to moles/gram protein if the protein concentration is known.

A Hewlett-Packard 9821A computer, which plotted a least squares line with a minimum relative error of less than 1 in 10^{-3} was used in the Scatchard analysis: from which the equilibrium dissociation constant and the maximum number of binding sites were calculated.

As shown in Table 3, the K_d for progesterone pretreated microsomes ranged from 2.00.10⁻⁷ to 3.78.10⁻⁷ M⁻¹ and for estrogen pretreated microsomes from 7.15.10⁻⁷ to 9.15.10⁻⁷ M⁻¹. The means were compared by unpaired t test and proved to be statistically significant (p<0.001). The maximum number of binding sites per milligram of microsomal protein ranged from 7.65 to 11.65 uM Ca/g protein in the progesterone microsomes and from 6.50 to 7.80 uM Ca/g protein in the estrogen microsomes. These means were also compared by unpaired t test and were again significantly different (p<0.005).

The rate of dissociation for progesterone and estrogen pretreated microsomes after addition of a large excess of calcium is shown in Figure 9 and the $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ for dissociation of ligand both in calcium excess and calcium absence is displayed in Table 4. The rate of dissociation in the presence of calcium was greater than its absence (p < 0.05) suggesting that the affinity of the calcium for its microsomal binding sites was decreased by the addition of further ligand. This could have been due to the process termed negative cooperativity; however it was not suggested by the Scatchard Plots obtained from the thermodynamic determinations, since this type of cooperativity would have yielded a non-linear plot. Alternatively the addition of excess calcium ions may have interfered with equilibrium or binding of small quantities of ⁴⁵Ca and appears more feasible since the difference in t₁ were 25% or less. This contradiction did not invalidate the filtration technique for separating bound from free in these experiments: the minimum $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ was 39.66 seconds for the estrogen treated microsomes whereas the time for filtration and washing in the calcium binding assay was approximately 5 seconds.

Effects of Norepinephrine on Calcium binding

The effects of norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding are indicated in Table 5. Norepinephrine

62

appeared to have a slight inhibitory effect which was unaffected by hormonal pretreatment: this effect however was statistically significant in only 10% of all the determinations and it was not possible to obtain a dose-response relationship in any of the groups of animals.

Effects of adrenergic agonists and blocking agents

The effects on uterine microsomal calcium binding, produced by Phenylephrine, Phentolamine, Isoproterenol and <u>+</u> Propanolol both in the absence and presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine, are shown in Tables 6 - 13 and Figures 11 and 12. The data indicates that <u>in vitro</u> incubation with these agents produced a reduction of calcium binding in all determinations.

Incubation with alpha adrenergic agonist phenylephrine, both in the presence and absence of norepinephrine, resulted in a marginal inhibition of calcium binding at all concentrations and in all hormonal groups. It was not possible to obtain a dose-response relationship and the data obtained was similar to that using norepinephrine alone (Table 5).

The effects of Phentolamine on calcium binding are shown in Tables 8 and 9: these indicate a substantial inhibition of calcium uptake in all hormonally treated groups and at the majority of concentrations examined. However it was not possible to plot dose-response curves for the inhibition within any one group and the diluent control group failed to show any significant drop in microsomal calcium binding.

Isoproterenol, both in the presence and absence of norepinephrine, failed to produce a consistent drop in calcium binding in any group of animals except in those treated with progesterone alone: in this group a highly significant inhibition was seen at all concentrations and in each determination. In the estrogen treated animals inconsistent, significant inhibition of calcium binding was seen, but both in this group and in the others a dose-response plot was not possible.

Tables 12 and 13, together with Figures 11 and 12, show the effect of \pm Propanolol on uterine microsomal binding. It was possible to plot dose-response curves both in the presence and absence of norepinephrine, but these curves were similar in all hormonal groups. At a concentration of 10^{-3} M \pm Propanolol reduced calcium binding to non-ATP levels.

Non-ATP controls

Parallel non-ATP controls were incubated simultaneously in all determinations throughout the above experiments: Phenylephrine, Phentolamine, Isoproterenol and <u>+</u> Propanolol failed to produce a statistically significant change in

64

calcium binding in any of the non-ATP determinations (p > 0.63). This data is not shown.

Effects of dibutyryl 3' 5'cyclic AMP on calcium binding

Table 14 depicts the effects of a range of concentrations of dibutyryl 3' 5'cyclic AMP on uterine microsomal calcium uptake. At concentrations above 10^{-6} M there was an apparent increase in calcium binding in all animal groups except those treated with progesterone alone. However these increases did not prove to be statistically significant despite a maximal increase in binding of 27.8% obtained with 10^{-3} M dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP in the estrogen treated animals.

Dose-response relationship between progesterone, uterine inhibition and calcium binding

The relationship between the dose of progesterone administered and the response observed (specifically, the inhibition of spontaneous uterine contraction and uterine microsomal calcium binding) is shown graphically in Figure 13. It can be seen that a single injection of 10^{-5} g progesterone failed to produce either inhibition of spontaneous uterine contractions or an increase in microsomal calcium binding. However, administration of 5.10^{-5} g progesterone inhibited uterine contraction and this inhibition increased with increasing doses of progesterone until it became maximal after a single injection of $2.5.10^{-3}$ g: after this no increase in inhibition was observed. The dose-response curve for microsomal calcium binding approximated that seen for contraction restraint but did not exhibit the same sensitivity. An increase in microsomal calcium uptake could not be measured until administration of 10^{-4} g progesterone, after which the dose-response curve paralleled that for the inhibition of contraction. The dose required to produce maximal calcium binding was 5.10^{-3} g progesterone.

Time course of activation and inactivation of progesterone

As shown in Figure 14, the time course of activation and inactivation of spontaneous uterine contractions following a single injection of 5 mg progesterone intramuscularly correlates well with its effect on uterine microsomal calcium binding. A decrease in amplitude of uterine contractions was observed approximately six hours after injection, which was followed by a gradually increasing onset until after twelve hours the contraction amplitude had reached a minimum: it remained minimal until approximately forty hours after the injection when the uterus gradually returned to normal. At forty-eight hours, uterine contractions were 80% of normal but full recovery was not complete

66

until seventy-two hours had elapsed. A gradual increase in calcium binding started eight hours after the administration of progesterone and became maximal after fourteen hours. This binding remained at this level until thirty-six hours had passed, when it started to decline: at fifty-six hours it had returned to pre-injection levels.

Effect of hormonal treatment on microsomal Ca-ATPase

In an attempt to characterize the effect of hormonal treatment on microsomal Ca-ATPase activity, the method of Lin and Morales (1976) was used to measure the levels of enzyme in the pellets obtained from each group. The results which are shown in Table 13 indicate there was no difference in Ca-ATPase activity in the uterine microsomes, resulting from steroid hormone treatment.

Figure l

Electron micrograph of crude mitochondrial pellet, obtained at 15,000g from progesterone treated rabbit uterus. 700 Å thick section stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. X20,000.



Electron micrograph of microsomal pellet, obtained at 100,000g from progesterone treated rabbit uterus. 700 Å thick section stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. X20,000.



The effect of temperature on the equilibrium time course of calcium binding by a microsomal fraction prepared from rabbit uterus pretreated with ovarian hormones. Estrogen treated animals received 100 ug estradiol benzoate daily for four days; estrogen and progesterone animals received estradiol benzoate daily for four days followed by 5 mg progesterone for four days; progesterone treated animals received 5 mg progesterone daily for four days. Control animals received diluent only. Each point represents the mean of six experiments and the solid bars indicate plus and minus one standard error of the mean. The experiments were performed at $37^{\circ}C$, $25^{\circ}C$, and $4^{\circ}C$ with a protein concentration of approximately 100 ug/ml.



Arrhenius Plot

Logarithmic plot of calcium accumulation by rabbit uterine microsomes as a function of reciprocal temperature following hormonal treatment with estrogen, estrogen plus progesterone, progesterone or diluent only. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at temperatures from $4 - 40^{\circ}$ C. The pH was 7.2.



The effect of ATP concentration on calcium binding by rabbit microsomes pretreated with ovarian steroids. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37°C. Each point is the mean of six experiments and solid bars represent plus and minus one standard error of the mean. The pH was 7.2.



1

u mole Ca⁺⁺d protein

Influence of magnesium ion concentration on calcium binding by hormonally pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes. Microsomes were incubated at 37°C for ten minutes. Each point represents the mean of six experiments and solid bars indicate plus and minus one standard error of the mean. The pH was 7.2.



Calcium uptake by pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes at 37^OC in the absence (A) and presence (B) of 5 mM ammonium oxalate. Each point represents the mean of six experiments and solid bars indicate plus and minus one standard error of the mean.



Representative direct plot of the equilibrium binding of Ca⁺⁺ to progesterone pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes measured by filtration. Microsomes were incubated at 37[°]C for ten minutes. The pH was 7.2.



Bound 45 Ca** (n mole / liter)

Reversibility of ATP dependent calcium binding examined by the addition of 10^{-5} M CaCl₂ to microsomes incubated with ⁴⁵Ca for ten minutes. The data indicates that in both estrogen and progesterone pretreated microsomes essentially all the specific binding is reversible. The results also show that the dissociation rate is sufficiently slow to allow separation of free and bound ⁴⁵Ca by filtration. PROGESTERONE TREATED MICROSOMES.



ESTROGEN TREATED MICROSOMES



Representative Scatchard plot of equilibrium data shown in Figure 8.



Effect of <u>+</u> Propanolol in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.



Effect of <u>+</u> Propanolol in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^OC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.



Effect of a single injection of progesterone on spontaneous uterine contractions and microsomal calcium binding. Rabbits were given a single intramuscular injection of progesterone in doses ranging from 10^{-5} to 10^{-2} g. After 16 hours the spontaneous uterine contraction was measured together with the microsomal calcium binding.



Time course of activation and inactivation of inhibition of spontaneous contraction and microsomal calcium binding following a single 5 mg injection of progesterone. Animals were sacrificed at 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 16, 20, 24, 36, 48, 60 or 72 hours after injection and spontaneous uterine contractions and microsomal calcium binding was measured.



Table l

Effect of hormonal pretreatment on calcium uptake by rabbit uterine microsomes at 37^OC, pH 7.2. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes and microsomal protein concentration was approximately 100 ug/ml.
.

EFFECT OF HORMONAL PRETREATMENT ON CALCIUM UPTAKE

BY RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMES

			HORMONAL	PRETREATMENT	
		Control	Estrogen	Estrogen + Progesterone	Progesterone
CALCIUM BINDING	Non-ATP Control	1.49 +0.079 (27)*	1.58 +0.090 (18)	1.51 +0.083 (18)	1.49 +0.099 (27)
(uM Ca/g. Prot.)	5mM ATP	2.91 -0.197 (27)	3.88 +0.199 (18)	4.01 <u>+</u> 0.272 (18)	8.17 +0.500 (18)
p_1			₹ 0 .001	< 0.002	< 0.001
P2			< 0.001	<0.001	
p3				NS	
P4		€ 0.001	€0.001	€ 0.001	€ 0.001
				and a second s	and a second s

* Figures in parenthesis: Number of observations

 p_1 Unpaired t Test: Hormonal groups compared with controls \pm SFM included. p2 Unpaired t Test:

Progesterone group compared with estrogen and estrogen + progesterone group, \pm SEM included.

p₃ Unpaired t Test:

Estrogen + progesterone compared with estrogen group, + SFM included.

p4 Unpaired t Test: ATP binding compared with non-ATP binding, ± SEM included.

Effect of pH on calcium accumulation by hormonally pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes. Microsomes were incubated at 37° C for ten minutes. All values represent the mean <u>+</u> one standard error of the mean of six replicate determinations on different animals.

•

EFFECT OF PH ON CALCIUM BINDING BY RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMES

protein)	-Droa
.µ/Mu)	400
f Calcium	
Uptake o	100
	\$

	Progesterone Treated Microsomes	Estrogen Treated Microsomes	EstProg. Treated Microsomes	Control Microsomes
6.00	0.25 ± 0.014	0.26 ± 0.0129	0.21 ± 0.017	0.27 + 0.081
6.25	0.20 ± 0.036	0.31 + 0.030	0.22 ± 0.088	0.27 + 0.033
6.50	0.56 ± 0.049	0.35 ± 0.028	0.28 ± 0.019	1.11 + 0.209
6.75	8.24 ± 0.151	3.90 ± 0.130	4.49 ± 0.167	3.59 ± 0.177
7.00	8.81 <u>+</u> 0.169	4.16 ± 0.196	4.23 ± 0.093	3.86 ± 0.136
7.25	7.82 ± 0.214	3.50 ± 0.074	3.92 ± 0.131	3.71 ± 0.099
7.50	0.16 ± 0.021	0.10 ± 0.011	0.50 + 0.096	1.60 ± 0.101
8.00	0.15 ± 0.031	0.11 ± 0.024	0.14 ± 0.036	0.20 + 0.084

Equilibrium dissociation constants (K_d) and maximum number of binding sites (n) in hormonally pretreated rabbit uterine microsomes. All values represent the mean <u>+</u> one standard error of the mean of six replicate determinations on different animals.

.

EQUILIBRIUM DISSOCIATION CONSTANTS AND MAXIMUM NUMBER OF

CALCIUM BINDING SITES IN RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMES

	Progesterone Treated Microsomes	Estrogen Treated Microsomes	EstProg. Treated Microsomes	Diluent Treated Microsomos
К _D (M ⁻¹) х 10 ⁻⁷	3.106 ± .279*(18)	8.270 ± .429*(18)	8.390 ± .432*(18)	8.148 ± .450*(18)
n(uM Ca/g. prot.)	9.43 ± .570*(18)	7.20 ± .203*(18)	8.57 ± .659*(]8)	7.80 ± .497*(18)
*Standard error of	the mean			
p, Unpaired t Tes	t: Progesterone tre	eated microsomes comp.	ared with estrogen t	reated and

ss compared with estrogen treated and	0001).
Progesterone treated microsome	controls + SEM included (p < 0.
Unpaired t Test:	
۲	-

- Progesterone treated microsomes compared with estrogen + progesterone treated \pm SEM included (p < 0.001). p₂ Unpaired t Test:
 - Estrogen treated microsomes compared with estrogen + progesterone treated \pm SEM included (p< 9.844) NS. p₃ Unpaired t Test:

•

Half times of dissociation of rabbit uterine microsomes and 45 Ca. Microsomes were incubated with radioactive calcium at 37^oC for ten minutes and then either washed with 25 vols. of Ca free medium or allowed to dissociate in the presence of a 0.1 mM CaCl₂.

•

HALF TIMES OF DISSOCIATION OF RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMES AND 45 CA.

Half Time of Dissociation (t_y) (seconds)

Calcium Free	75.16 ± 1.77(6)	49.16 ± 2.37(6)
Calcium Excess	69.16 ± 1.24(6)*	39.66 ± 2.10(6)
Hormonal Pretreatment	Progesterone	Estrogen

* Number of samples

- p_{1} Unpaired t Test: Progesterone treated t_{3} Ca excess compared to Ca free <u>+</u> SEM included (p < 0.05).
 - p_2 Unpaired t Test: Estrogen treated Ca excess compared to Ca free \pm SEM included (p < 0.05).
- p₃ Unpaired t Test: Progesterone treated t_y compared to estrogen t_y . Ca excess (p<0.001).
 - p_4 Unpaired t Test: Progesterone treated t, compared to estrogen t_y Ca free (p < 0.001).

.

Effect of Norepinephrine on rabbit uterine microsomal calcium binding: microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2 together with 5 mM ATP except where indicated. The means represent six determinations <u>+</u> one standard error of the mean. All values were compared with calcium binding in the absence of Norepinephrine by unpaired t test.

.

EFFECTS OF NOREPINEPHRINE ON MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

				H	ORMONAL,	PRETREAT	MENT			
	Dilu Cont 0 A	ent rol TP	Dilu Cont 5mM	ent :rol ATP	Estro SmM A	gen TP	Estrogen Progeste 5mM AT	+ P	Progest 5mM /	cerone VTP
		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance	N	ignif- cance	0, 44	Signif- Icance
0	100 +9.21		100 +8.11		100 <u>+</u> 6.33		100		100 +9.81	
10 ⁻⁸	78.1 <u>+</u> 12.2	NSN	1.0 <u>6</u>	SN	84.2 +5.1	SN	90.0 +5.1	SN	89.6 +3.1	SN N
10-7	81.2 +12.3	SN	84.8 +4.5	SN	79.1 +4.2	p < 0.05	84.2 +5.7	SN	90.1 +5.5	SN
10-6	75.1 <u>+</u> 15.4	NS	87.3 +5.6	SN	74.2	p∢0.05	91.3 +4.1	SN	79.2 +8.8	SN N
10 ⁻⁵	79.7 <u>+</u> 13.1	SN	86.6 <u>+</u> 3.7	SN	90.8 +3.9	SN	78.3 +8.9	SN	89.3 410.2	S.N.N
10-4	82.4 +11.1	SN	86.8 +5.1	SN	85.1 +5.5	SN	86.7 +4.8	SN	81.2 +8.8	S.N.
10 ⁻³	71.1 +9.4	NS	74.9 +6.2	p 0.05	79.2	NS	88.9 +7.3	SN	95.3 +6.7	SN

Effect of Phenylephrine in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^OC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

.

EFFECTS OF PHENYLEPHRINE TOGETHER WITH JUM NOREPINEPHRINE

ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

HORMONAL PRETREATMENT

sterone ATP	Signif- icance		SN	ŜN	S.N	10.0≻q	50.0≥d	S.N N
Proge 5mM		100++8.8	82.4 +3.9	84.3 +9.9	72.4 +9.1	64.2 +5.5	68.1 +6.8	83.7 +5.7
ogen + sterone ATP	Signif- icance		p≮0.01	SN	p≮0.05	SN	С Х Х	p≮0.01
Estr Proge 5mM		100 +8.7	63.7 +6.1	81.9 +4.8	74.3 +6.8	77.7 +7.3	87.7 +4.5	69.9 +3.7
ogen ATP	Signif- icance		SN	p≮0.05	p∢0.05	SN	p≮0.05	p < 0.01
Estr 5mM		100 + 9.3	91.2 + 9.0	73.4 +7.2	69.5 +4.3	77.1 +9.2	74.5 +6.2	63.4 +4.4
Control ATP	Signif- icance		p < 0.01	p≮0.01	p < 0.01	SN	SN	p < 0.01
Diluent 5mM	INE	100 +5.8	58.1 <u>+</u> 8.5	67.7 +5.4	68.7 +6.3	79.1 +10.7	81.7 +10.2	67.1 +7.8
	PIIENYLEPHF (m)	0	10-8	10-7	10-6	10 ⁻⁵	10-4	10-3

Effect of Phenylephrine in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^OC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

•

•

EFFECTS OF PHENYLEPHRINE ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

PRETREATMENT	
HORMONAL	

+ Dne Progesterone 5mM ATP	gnif- Signif- ance icance	100 + 6.0	NS 81.2 p<0.05 +5.3	NS 95.3 NS +5.3	VS 96.1 NS +10.1	45.5 p≤0.05 +5.5	45 97.1 NS +7.7	4S 90.2 NS 48 8
Estrogen Progester 5mM ATP	Sic	100 + 6.9	90.4 +9.7	91.1 +4.4	97.6 +3.9	89.8 +9.3	82.1 +5.8	91.3 +8,6
strogen mM ATP	Signif- icance	0 m	6 NS 4	1 NS 3	6 NS 1	3 NS	5 NS	SN 6
Control E ATP 5	Signif- icance	10 +8.	NS 83. +9.	NS 83. +6.	.04 .04	< 0.05 75. +8.	NS 92. +16.	<pre>< 0.01 85.</pre>
Diluent 5mM	RINE	100 <u>+</u> 5.7	91.3	82.9 <u>+</u> 9.1	81.9 +6.2	79.9 p. +5.2	77.9 +9.4	72.5 P+ +2 4
	рнеиујерн , (м)	0	10 ⁻⁸	10-7	10-6	10-5	10-4	10-3

Effect of Phentolamine in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

•

EFFECT OF PHENTOLAMINE ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL, CALCIUM BINDING

_
5
5
-
-
2
~
E.
r.
F-
ī.,
н.
≃
-
_
ц.
μ.
<u> </u>
2
AL P
AL F
VAL P
NAL F
ONAL F
40NAL F
MONAL F
RMONAL F
DRMONAL F
ORMONAL F
HORMONAL F

				HORMONAL PF	REATM	ENT		
	Dilue 5	ent Control MM ATP	Estr 5mM	ngen ATP	Esti Proge 5mM	rogen + sterone ATP	Proge	estero 1 ATP
PHENTOLAM (m)	INF	Signif- cance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Sig
c	100 +3.7		100 +11.4		100 +5.1		100	
10 ⁻⁸	97.0 +5.6	SN	74.8 +3.1	S N	59.4 +6.8	p≤0.001	51.0 +6.1	0 v d
10-7	89.6 +8.2	SN	72.0	p≮0.05	62.8 +4.2	p<0.001	48.2 +5.2	u∨d
10-6	89.8 +3.5	SN	70.9	p ≺ 0.05	63.8 +6.7	100.0>4	51.2 +6.3	0 v d
1.0-5	84.1 +9.3	SN	75.0 <u>+</u> 9.1	SN	60.5 +2.8	p< 0.001	52.3 +7.1	c V d
10 ⁻⁴	82.2 +4.1	p<0.01	70.0 <u>+</u> 12.3	SN	68.2 +3.1	p<0.001	46.6 +3.4	C V di
10-3	89.1 +11.5	SN	74.9 +4.1	SN	74.5 +9.9	p≤0.05	39.9 +4.0	v►q

Effect of Phentolamine in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

.

•

EFFECT OF PHENTOLAMINE TOGETHER WITH LUM NOREPINEPHRINE

ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

HORMONAL FRETREATMENT

gesterone mM ATP	Signif- icance		p< 0.05	p<0.01	p<0.01	p<0.001	p<0.0001	p< 0.01
Pro		100	71.7 +7.2	69.4 +5.5	64.6 +5.7	41.9 +6.4	52.0 +2.8	64.3 +5.0
rogen + esterone ATP	Signif- icance		p<0.001	p< 0.00]	p< 0.001	p<0.01	p < 0.001	p<0.01
Est Prog 5mM		100	68.7 +4.2	60.9 +5.5	66.2 +8.2	68.2 +6.6	58.7 +9.2	63.6 +8.8
rogen ATP	Signif- icance		p< 0.001	p< 0.01.	p<0.01	p< 0.001	p< 0.01	p < 0.05
Est 5mM		100 ± 6.2	46.6 +6.9	64.4 +7.5	63.1 +8.2	52.7 +5.2	62.8 +4.5	79.7
Control ATP	Signif- icance		SN	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN
Diluent 5mM	ы	$100 \\ \pm 3.9$	99.0 +6.3	94.7 +5.9	95.9 +5.0	$91.3 \\ +3.4$	94.6 +7.2	85.0 +5.8
	PHENTOLAMIN (M)	0	10-8	1.0 ⁻⁷	10-6	10-5	10-4	10-3

Effect of Isoproterenol in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

•

EFFECTS OF ISOPROTERENOL ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

				HORMONAL PF	REATMEN	т		
	Diluent 5mM	Control ATP	Estr 5mM	ngen ATA	Estro Proges 5mM A	gen + terone TP	Proge 5mM	isterone I ATP
I SOPROTERF (M)	SNOL	Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance
c	100 +5.1		100 +4.9		100 +3.8		100 +7.6	
10-8	95.1 +13.7	SN	81.3 +7.2	SN	79.1 +5.8	S N	51.2	t00.0>q
10-7	98.3 +8.5	SN	88.1 +8.1	SN	81.2 +7.8	SN	50.1 +5.2	p< 0.001
^{10_} و	93.6 +9.9	SN	73.7 +5.9	p<0.05	85.1 <u>+</u> 11.1	SN	53.0 +3.9	p<0.001
10-5	97.1 +9.4	SN	89.1 +6.1	NS	79.3	SN	59.] +5.]	[00°0>d
10-4	94.9 +6.3	SN	75.1 +4.1	p< 0.05	83.1 +9.1	SN	61.7 +3.1	p<0.001
10-3	92.8 +7.6	SN	74.9 +3.9	p≺ 0.05	77.7 +6.2	SN	64.1 +7.3	p<0.005

Effect of Isoproterenol in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

.

EFFECT OF ISOPROTERENOL TOGETHER WITH 1UM NOREPHRINE ON RABRIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

E	
2 G	
2	1
6	2
Ę	
- 6	Ŀ
6	
000	
1 000	
add TAM	
add Trion	
add IMOMOC	

sterone L ATP	Signif- icance		100.0×4	100.0 ≻q	t00.0≻q	p<0.001	p<0.001	p ≤ 0.001
Proge 5mM		100	51.0	49.1 +3.3	45.3 +2.]	39.1 +3.7	50.9 +4.8	41.1 +2.7
rogen + esterone ATP	Signif- icance		p<0.05	S. N	Ŝ	SN	p < 0.05	p < 0.001
Esti Proge 5mm		100 +5.4	79.8	81.3 +6.9	85.1 +8.9	83.1 +10.1	77.1 +6.7	63.1 <u>+</u> 3.8
rogen ATF	Signif- lcance		p<0.001	p < 0.05	SN	SN	p≮0.05	p < 0.01
Est 5mM		100 +8.1	66.9 +6.1	70.8 +8.1	81.1 +7.7	85.6 +8.8	71.8 +7.8	69.8 +5.2
ent Control 5mM ATP	Signif- icance		₽ < 0.05	ŝ	SN	p< 0.05	NS	SN
Dilue	10N	100 +5.2	70.1 +7.8	89.1 +9.9	77.8	71.6 +9.6	81.3 +5.8	79.3 +6.1
	ISOPROTERE (M)	c	10 ⁻⁸	10-7	10 ₋ 6	10-5	10-4	10-3

Effect of <u>+</u> propanolol in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

.

EFFECT OF -PROPANOLOL ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

				HORMONAL, PRI	STRFATME	TN		
	Dilue	ent Control 5mM ATP	Estr 5mM	одеп АТР	Estr Proge 5mM	cogen + ssterone ATP	Proge 5mM	sterone I ATP
PROPANOLOL (M)		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance
o	100		100		100 +3.4		100 +8.3	
10-8	81.8 +5.6	p≮0.05	78.1 +5.3	p∢0.05	88.8 +8.7	NS	82.9 +5.1	ŝ
10-7	79.5 +3.9	p <0 .05	79.9 +8.5	SN	90.8 +4.8	SN	81.1	NS
J.0-6	80.0 +6.9	p∢0.05	77.0	SN	82.1 +6.2	p≮0.05	78.2 +9.8	NS
10-5	71.2 +6.1	p ∢ 0.01	64.1 +6.7	p ≺ 0.01	69.1 +5.7	p< 0.001	65.0 +6.2	t0.0≯d
10-4	52.9 +4.7	p≮0.001	37.2 +3.5	p ≺ 0 .0001	41.3 +3.4	p≺0.0001	47.1 +3.1	1000.0≻d
1.0-3	23.0 +1.8	p∢0.001	15.4 +2.0	p< 0.0001	16.2 <u>+</u> 4.1	p≤0.0001	21.1 +2.0	r<0.0001

Effect of <u>+</u> propanolol in the presence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37^oC, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

.

EFFECT OF +PROFANOLOL TOGETHER WITH 1 M NOREPINEPHRINE

ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL CALCIUM BINDING

HORMONAL PRETREATMENT

	Dilu	ent Control 5mM ATP	Estr 5mM	dTA nego	Fstr Proge 5mM	ogen + sterone ATP	Proge 5mb	sterone 1 ATP
PROFANOLOL (M)		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance		Signif- icance
C	100 + 7.3		100		100		100 +5.8	
10-8	69.4 +7.1	p<0.001	59.4 +3.6	p < 0.001	74.5 +5.8	p< 0.05	80.1 +6.5	p<0.05
10-7	68.2 +6.4	p≮0.001	60.1 +6.7	p< 0.001	68.7 +2.3	p< 0.001	69.9 47.4	p < 0.01
10-6	71.2 <u>+</u> 3.3	p< 0.005	61.2 +4.9	p≮ 0.001	69.7 +8.3	SN	70.9 +6.0	10.0≻q
10 ⁻⁵	60.9 +2.6	p < 0.001	51.4 +4.2	p≮0.001	55.0 +4.0	p<0.001	58.5 +5.5	p< 0.001
1.0-4	48.4 +4.9	p<0.001	47.3 +2.8	p≮ 0.001	40.1 +1.1	p< 0.001	38.4 +3.7	p < 0.001
10-3	35.1 +2.6	p<0.001	18.6 +1.4	p < 0.001	15.4 +2.5	p<0.001	20.4 +1.8	p ≤ 0.001

Effect of Dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP in the absence of 1 uM Norepinephrine on uterine microsomal calcium binding. Microsomes were incubated for ten minutes at 37[°]C, pH 7.2. Each point represents the mean of six determinations.

.

EFFECT OF DIBUTYRYL 3' 5'-CYCLIC AMP ON RABBIT UTERINE MICROSOMAL BINDING

HORMONAL PRETREATMENT

.

					-						
DI RUTY RVI.	2	Non-ATP		Diluen Contro SmM AT	ہے ہے ت	Estr 5mM	ATP ATP	Estrog Progest 5mM AT	en + erone P	Proges 5mM	terone ATF
5 - CYCLIC (M)	AMP	Signif- icance		Si ic	qnif- ance		Signif- icance	ν. -	ignif cance	ı	Signif- icance
c	10(0 1	1(+9.	00		100 +8.9		100 +7.2]00 +5.4	
]0 ⁻⁸	101. +4.	sn sr	97. +6.	2.7	SN	102.7 +7.1	SN	106.3 +6.2	SN	105.7	SN
10-7	98.] +6.1	1 NS 2	100.	4 1	SN	106.1 +6.3	SN	98.9 +8.4	SN	98.8 +8.1	SN
10-6	106.	7 NS I	101.	2 7	SN	97.7 +7.3	SN	99.8 +10.5	SN	100.9 +5.9	S.N.
1.0 ⁻⁵	115.0	0 B	119. +13.	1	SN	106.0 +7.1	NS	119.0 +10.2	SN	105.9 +11.1	SN
10-4	125.6	3 NS	121. +9.	0	NS	125.0 +10.9	SN	127.1 +11.1	SN	99.2 +5.1	SN
10-3	127.6 +13.1	6 NS	123. +9.	9 8	NS	127.8 <u>+</u> 8.8	SN	125.3 <u>+</u> 13.4	SN	98.3 +6.7	SN

Effect of hormonal pretreatment of rabbit uterine microsomal Ca-ATPase activity. ATPase activity is expressed in terms of uM inorganic phosphate liberated per second per gram of microsomal protein.

.

THE EFFECT OF HORMONAL PRETREATMENT ON RABBIT UTERINE

MICROSOMAL CA ATPASe ACTIVITY

Hormonal Pretreatment	Ca ATPase Activity - (uM P ₁ ·g ⁻¹ , soc ⁻¹)	Ъ	5 ⁴	6d
Diluent Control	0.98 ± 0.14(5)*			
Estrogen	1.06 ± 0.17(5)	SN	SN	SN
Estrogen & Progesterone	$0.94 \pm 0.13(5)$	SN	SN	
Progesterone	1.07 + 0.14(8)	NS		

* Number of samples

Test: Hormonal pretreatment compared with controls + SEM included.	Test: Progesterone pretreatment compared with estrogen and estrogen + progesterone <u>+</u> SEM included.
t Tes	t Tee
Unpaired	Unpaired
Ъl	b2

 p_3 Unpaired t Test: Estrogen pretreatment compared with estrogen and progesterone \pm SEM included.

DISCUSSION

In striated muscle, calcium ions are released from internal storage sites to initiate contraction and sequestered from the sarcoplasm to allow relaxation. In this type of muscle there is general agreement that the sarcoplasmic reticulum is the major regulator of calcium activity (Inesi, 1972) but in smooth muscle there are at least three sites where mobilizable calcium may be sequestered and stored: mitochondria, plasma membranes and the microsomal compartment.

The study isolated a microsomal fraction from rabbit uterine muscle which was characterized by the presence of vesicles and ribosomes and devoid of mitochondria (Figures 1 and 2). This fraction accumulated calcium in a manner which appeared to be ATP driven (Table 1) and, considering previous findings by Fleckestein (1954) and Mommaerts (1955) that muscle relaxation requires ATP derived energy, it is tempting to speculate that uterine microsomal ATP calcium binding may have a physiological significance in regulating the concentration of free cytoplasmic calcium and therefore the contractile state of muscle fibers.

Following treatment with the ovarian hormones, estrogen,

97

progesterone, or estrogen together with progesterone, it was found that ATP dependent microsomal calcium binding was consistently greater in microsomal fractions treated with progesterone alone (Table 1). Further examination of this binding indicated that in all groups the binding was saturable and reversible but thermodynamic analysis indicated that in progesterone treated microsomes there was a higher concentration of binding sites and a lower equilibrium dissociation rate constant (Table 3).

This increase in calcium binding capacity and avidity suggests that the progesterone dominated uterus may sequester calcium from the sarcoplasm in amounts large enough to keep the intracellular calcium level below that required for muscle contraction: this idea is compatible with the physiological relaxing properties of this hormone. The possibility that progesterone action is mediated through changes it produces in intracellular calcium concentrations should be consonant with the relatively long latent period observed for the onset of its physiological actions, and in order to test this idea the time courses of inhibition of spontaneous uterine contraction, together with that of microsomal calcium binding, were analyzed following a single injection of progesterone. Additionally, to test the hypothesis still further, it was attempted to establish a dose-response relationship between these phenomena. No effect on uterine

98

contractility or calcium binding was observed before six hours or after 72 hours and the 12-36 hour period of maximum uterine inhibition and calcium binding correlated well. Similarly, the dose-response curves (Figure 13) showed close agreement; however, the onset of effects in both this and the time course experiment did not show such close approximation and it is difficult to speculate on the reasons without further work: it is possible that this discrepancy may be due to other actions of progesterone or to damage to the microsomes incurred during preparation.

If progesterone promotes intracellular sequestration and storage of calcium, the mechanism may involve the induction of a second sub-cellular component: this possibility deserves consideration, especially when the contradictory results from time course and cross circuit experiments are considered together with recent findings concerning the molecular manner in which progesterone acts in other systems (O'Malley, 1969). Since the calcium binding by microsomes appeared to be ATP dependent, it was decided to look for changes in Ca ATPase activity in the microsomal fraction.

Lipid micro-environment has been found critical to ATPase activity (Seelig and Hasselbach, 1971; Martonosi, 1974) and in 1974, Inesi examined this influence on ATPase and calcium binding activity in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of rabbits using temperature dependence studies, followed

99

by Arrhenius plot analysis; discontinuities in this type of plot are believed to represent lipid phase transitions that in turn modify enzyme activity. Inesi found membrane conformational changes at 19°C affecting Ca ATPase, which he termed the "lipid melt" temperature.

The results of this work show a transition at 20° C in the Arrhenius plot and that hormonal pretreatment with ovarian steroids has no effect on either the transition temperature or the slopes of the graph. This implies the hormonal treatment does not alter drastically the local lipid environment and that characteristics of ATPase in this system are independent of steroid hormonal status. These data agree with other determinations in this study in which Ca ATPase activity in the microsomes was measured directly, subsequent to steroid treatment: it was impossible to reveal significant differences in enzyme activity. Thus it would appear that progesterone does not increase microsomal calcium binding by increasing available energy from ATP by enzyme induction; however, Ostwald and MacLennon (1974) have described the isolation and purification from rabbit sarcoplasmic reticulum of a lipoprotein (Calsequestrin) with high capacity and medium affinity calcium binding properties and in view of the increase in binding sites found in this study in progesterone treated microsomes, one might conject that the hormone could act by inducing the synthesis of a similar

protein.

It has been postulated that estrogen and progesterone alter the sensitivity of alpha and beta receptors to norepinephrine and other experimental evidence has increasingly suggested that calcium ions are often subcellular coupling agents in hormone action (Ebashi and Endo, 1968; Bianchi, 1968; Rubin, 1970; Rasmussen, 1970; Rasmussen et al., 1972). In this investigation various alpha and beta agonists and blockers were used in an attempt to demonstrate a possible relationship between alpha and beta receptors and microsomal calcium binding as an interrelated intracellular messenger system. The results show that propanolol inhibits uterine microsomal calcium uptake and these findings are similar to those in cardiac microsomal preparations (Hess et al., 1968; Scales and McIntosh, 1968; Entman et al., 1969; White and Shinebourne, 1969; Pretorius, 1969). The mechanism by which this block is brought about is controversial. Hess et al. (1968) and White and Shinebourne (1969) have reported that beta adrenergic agonists reversed propanolol inhibitions suggesting that propanolol is mediated in part at least by a beta blocking action. A similar conclusion was reached by Entman et al. (1969) who found that propanolol prevented epinephrine induced cardiac microsomal binding. In the study herein it was found that in rabbit uterine microsomes propanolol inhibited the binding of calcium both in the

presence and absence of norepinephrine. It was also found that norepinephrine had no significant effect on the binding of calcium no matter how the microsomes were pretreated. Baudouin-Legros and Meyer (1973) reported that norepinephrine produced a slight inhibition of calcium uptake in rabbit aortic microsomes and surprisingly that epinephrine had exactly the opposite effect.

In other systems 1-propanolol which has beta blocking together with local anaesthetic actions and d-propanolol which is only a local anaesthetic inhibited calcium binding and that this cannot be reversed by isoproterenol (Katz <u>et al</u>. 1974). It has therefore been concluded that inhibition of calcium binding by propanolol cannot be attributed to a beta blocking action on the calcium transport system of the sarcoplasmic reticulum.

In these experiments the beta receptor agonist isoproterenol did not increase the calcium binding in any of the systems examined and in the estrogen, estrogen plus progesterone and controls had little effect. However, in the progesterone pretreated microsomes, isoproterenol, both in the presence and absence of norepinephrine, reduced calcium binding.

Finally, phentolamine, a potent alpha blocking agent, consistently inhibited calcium binding more than any other agent used, suggesting strongly that the agents used in these investigations must be acting through a mechanism not mediated by alpha or beta receptors.

It is difficult to evaluate the effects of dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP on microsomal calcium binding observed in this study since the changes were not statistically significant. However, the suggestion of a dose-response relationship in some of the groups, together with the delicate increase in calcium binding, are compatible with the physiological relaxing properties of the nucleotide (Baudouin-Legros and Meyer, 1973) and do give credence to the idea that cyclic nucleotides play a role in 'fine tuning' intracellular calcium signals (Rasmussen and Goodman, 1975).

In considering the negative results obtained with isoproterenol and 3' 5'-cyclic AMP it is essential to take into consideration the feedback relationships operating between the various subcellular constituents. It is widely believed that in the intact cell, activation of alpha or beta receptors modulates intracellular nucleotide levels, the primary role of which is to stimulate protein kinases which in turn phosphorylate various key proteins; this effect has been particularly well characterized in cardiac muscle where cyclic AMP stimulates a protein kinase which phosphorylates a component of the sarcoplasmic reticulum leading to a stimulation of calcium uptake (Kirchberger <u>et al</u>., 1972; Tada et al., 1974). The kinase does not phosphorylate
Ca-ATPase but a sub-protein of the carrier molecule: this protein, termed phospholamban, is thought to modulate the transport protein (Tada, 1974) and a similar mechanism is thought to exist in smooth muscle where cyclic AMP stimulates calcium uptake into the microsomal compartment. However, the mechanism has not been studied in the same detail as in heart muscle, and in this study the protein kinase or the phosphate acceptor, or both, may have been lost during preparation of the microsomes.

Great care must be taken in the interpretation of these <u>in vitro</u> results. The <u>in vivo</u> physiological significance of the calcium binding remains uncertain because the nature of the intrasarcoplasmic reticulum matrix remains to be determined. Furthermore, the slowness of calcium uptake <u>in vitro</u> indicates that this mechanism alone may not be the in vivo calcium trapping mechanism.

SUMMARY

The administration of various ovarian steroids to immature female rabbits produced changes in the ability of uterine microsomal preparations to bind calcium. The uptake of calcium was consistently greater in animals pretreated with progesterone.

The uterine microsomes were incubated with ⁴⁵Ca and ATP for ten minutes and the incubation was stopped by rapid filtration. ⁴⁵Ca uptake was maximal in eight minutes; was saturable and reversible.

An attempt was made to correlate the actions of estrogen and progesterone with changes in the activity of alpha and beta receptors. This was done by incorporating different alpha and beta agonists and blockers into the incubation medium and measuring the effect on microsomal calcium binding. The results were inconclusive but suggested that the pharmacological agents were not acting through the alpha or beta receptor mechanism.

A thermodynamic analysis of calcium binding indicated that in the progesterone pretreated microsomes there was a greater concentration of calcium receptor sites and that binding at these sites displayed greater avidity when

compared to that in estrogen pretreated animals.

It was postulated that progesterone promotes the observed increase in uterine microsomal calcium binding by inducing the synthesis of calcium dependent ATPase in the microsomal compartment: levels of this enzyme were measured in microsomal samples from all groups, however no significant changes were detected.

It was concluded that progesterone promotes the metabolic storage of calcium by uterine microsomal reticulum in amounts large enough to keep the sarcoplasmic calcium level below that required for contraction and that this accounts for observed decreases in contractility.

LITERATURE CITED

- Ahlquist, R. P. 1948 A study of adrenotropil receptors. Am. J. Physiol. 153: 586-600.
- Allen, W. M. and G. W. Corner 1929 Physiology of the corpus luteum. III. Normal growth and implantation of embryos after early ablation of the ovaries under the influence of extracts of the corpus luteum. Am. J. Physiol. 88: 340-346.
- Allen, W. M. and G. P. Heckel 1936 Prolongation of the corpus luteum in the pseudopregnant rabbit. Science 84: 161.

1939 Maintenance of pregnancy by progesterone in rabbits castrated on the llth day. Am. J. Physiol. 125: 31.

- Anderrson, R., L. Lundholm and E. Mohme-Lundholm 1972 Vascular smooth muscle. E. Betz (Ed) p 14. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg.
- Anderrson, R. and E. Mohme-Lundholm 1969 Studies on the relaxing actions mediated by stimulation of adrenergic alpha and beta receptors in taenia coli of the rabbit and guinea pig. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 77: 372.
- Bagby, R. M., A. M. Young, R. S. Dotson, B. A. Fisher and K. McKinnon 1971 Contraction of single smooth muscle cells from <u>Bufo marinus</u> stomach. Nature (London) 234: 351-352.
- Bailey, K. 1942 Myosin and Adenosine Triphosphatase. Biochem. J. 36: 121-139.

1948 Tropomyosin: a new asymmetric protein component of the muscle fibril. Biochem. J. 43: 271-279.

Baird, G. D. and S. V. Perry 1960 The inhibitory action of relaxing-factor preparations on Myofibrillar Adenosine triphosphatase. Biochem. J. 77: 262-271.

- Ball, J. H., N. I. Kaminsky, J. G. Hardman, A. E. Broadus, E. W. Sutherland and G. W. Liddle 1972 Effects of catecholamines and adrenergic blocking agents on plasma and urinary cyclic nucleotides in man. J. Clin. Invest. 51: 2124-2129.
- Batra, S. C. 1972 The role of calcium binding by subcellular particles in the contraction and relaxation of the myometrium. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 112: 851-856.
- Batra, S. C. and E. E. Daniel 1971 ATP dependent Ca uptake by subcellular fractions of uterine smooth muscle. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 38A: 369-385.
- Baudouin-Legros, M. and P. Meyer 1973 Effects of angiotensin, catecholamines and cyclic AMP on calcium storage in aortic microsomes. Br. J. Pharmac. 47: 377-385.
- Berger, E. and J. M. Marshall 1961 Interactions of oxytocin, potassium and calcium on the rat uterus. Am. J. Physiol. 201: 931-934.
- Bianchi, C. P. 1961 Calcium movements in muscle. Circulation 24: 518-522.

1968a Pharmacological actions on excitationcontraction coupling in striated muscle. Fed. Proc. 27: 126-131.

_____ 1968b Cell calcium. Butterworth and Co., Ltd., Washington D.C.

- Blair, E. W. 1922 Contraction rate of the uterine musculature of the rat with reference to the oestrus cycle. Anat. Rec. 23: 9-10.
- Bohr, D. F. 1973 Vascular smooth muscle updated. Circ. Res. 32: 665-671.
- Bowman, W. C. and M. T. Hall 1970 Inhibition of rabbit intestine mediated by alpha and beta adrenoceptors. Br. J. Pharmac. 38: 399-415.
- Bozler, E. 1948 Conduction, automaticity and tonus of visceral muscles. Experientia 4: 213-218.
- Briggs, A. H. and H. B. Hannah 1965 Calcium, magnesium and ATP interaction in glycerinated uterine smooth muscle. Paul, Daniel, Kay and Monckton (Eds.). Muscle p 287-294. Pergamon Press, New York.

- Butenandt, A. and U. Westphal 1934 Zur Isolierung und Charakterisierung des Corpus-Luteum hormons. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 67: 1440-1442.
- Butenandt, A., U. Westphal and H. Cobler 1934 Uber einen Abbau Stigmasterins zu Corpus-Luteum worksamen Stoffen; ein Beitrag zu Konstitution des Corpus-Luteum. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 67: 1611-1616.
- Cannon, W. B. 1937 Autonomic neuro-effector systems. The MacMillan Company, New York.
- Carafoli, E. and P. Gazzottl 1973 The reaction of Ca⁺⁺ with the inner and outer membrane of mitochondria. Experientia 29: 408-409.
- Carsten, M. E. 1969 Role of calcium binding by sarcoplasmic reticulum in the contraction and relaxation of uterine smooth muscle. J. Gen. Physiol. 53: 414-426.
 - 1971 Uterine smooth muscle: Troponin. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 147: 353-357.
 - 1973 Sarcoplasmic reticulum from pregnant bovine uterus: Calcium binding. Gynec. Invest. 4: 84-94.

1974 Hormonal regulation of myometrial calcium transport. Gynec. Invest. 5: 269-275.

- Carsten, M. E. and W. F. H. M. Mommaerts 1964 The accumulation of calcium ions by sarcotubular vesicles. J. Gen. Physiol. 48: 183-197.
- Carvalho, A. P. and B. Leo 1967 Effect of ATP on the interaction of Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺ and K⁺ with fragmented sarcoplasmic reticulum isolated from rabbit skeletal muscle. J. Gen. Physiol. 50: 1327-1352.
- Challis, J. R. G., I. J. Davies and K. J. Ryan 1973 The concentrations of progesterone, estrone and estradiol-17 beta in the plasma of pregnant rabbits. Endocrinology 93: 971-976.

1974 The concentrations of progesterone, estrone and estradiol-17 beta in the myometrium of the pregnant rabbit and their relationship to the peripheral plasma steroid concentrations. Endocrinology 95: 160-164.

- Challis, J. R. G., I. J. Davies and K. J. Ryan 1975 The effects of dexamethasone and indomethacin F on the outcome of pregnancy in the rabbit. J. Endocrinol. 64: 363-370.
- Clyman, R. I., V. C. Manganiello, C. J. Lovell-Smith and M. Vaughan 1976 Calcium uptake by subcellular fractions of human umbilical artery. Am. J. Physiol. 231: 1074-1081.
- Cohen, S. L., G. F. Marrian and M. Watson 1935 Excretion of eostrin during pregnancy. Lancet 1: 674.
- Corner, G. W. 1923 Cyclic variation in uterine and tubal contraction waves. Am. J. Anat. 32: 345-351.
- Courrier, R. and R. Kehl 1938 Sur le besoin hormonal quantatif chez la lapine gestante castree. C. R. Soc. Biol. Paris 128: 188-191.
- Coutinho, E. M. and C. E. R. DeMattos 1968 Effects of estrogen on the motility of the non-atrophic estrogen deficient rabbit uterus. Endocrinology 83: 422-432.
- Csapo, A. I. 1950 Actomyosin formation by estrogen action. Am. J. Physiol. 162: 406-410.

1956 The mechanism of effect of the ovarian steroids. Recent Progr. Hormone Res. 12: 405-431.

1961a 'The in vivo and in vitro effects of estrogen and progesterone on the myometrium', in Mechanism of action of steroid hormones. Pergamon Press, Oxford p 126.

1961b 'Defence mechanism of pregnancy', in Progesterone and the defence mechanism of pregnancy. Ciba Fdn. Study Group No. 9 Eds. G. E. W. Wolstenholme and M. P. Cameron. Little Brown and Co., Boston pp 3-27.

1963 Model experiments and clinical trials in the control of pregnancy and parturition. Am. J. Obst. Gynec. 85: 359-379.

1969 Progesterone: Its regulatory effect on the myometrium. Ciba Fdn. Study Group No. 34 Eds. G. E. W. Wolstenholme and J. Knight. J. A. Churchill, London p 13. (A) A state of the state of

- Csapo, A. I. 1972 On the mechanism of the abortifacient action of prostaglandin F₂. In Brook Lodge Symposium, The Prostaglandins-Clinical applications in Human Reproduction. Ed. E. M. Southern. Futura, New York pp 337-366.
- Csapo, A. I. and G. W. Corner 1952 The antagonistic effects of estrogen and progesterone on the staircase phenomenon in uterine muscle. Endocrinology 51: 378-385.
- Csapo, A. I. and M. A. Lloyd-Jacob 1961 Effect of progesterone on pregnancy. Nature 192: 329-330.
- Csapo, A. I. and H. Takeda 1965 Effect of progesterone on the activity and intra-uterine pressure of pregnant and parturient rabbits. Am. J. Obst. Gynec. 91: 221-231.
- Csapo, A. I. and W. G. Wiest 1969 An examination of the quantitative relationship between progesterone and the maintenance of pregnancy. Endocrinology 85: 735-746.
- Cushny, A. R. 1906 On the movements of the uterus. J. Physiol., London 35: 1-19.
- Dale, H. H. 1906 On some physiological actions of ergot. J. Physiol., London 34: 163-206.

1913 On the actions of ergotoxine; with special reference to the existence of sympathetic vasodilators. J. Physiol., London 46: 291-300.

1954 The beginnings and the prospects of neurohumoral transmission. Pharmacol. Rev. 6: 7-13.

Daniel, E. E. 1963 On roles of calcium, strontium and barium in contraction and excitability of rat uterine muscle. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 146: 298-349.

1964 Effects of drugs on contractions of vertebrate smooth muscle. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. 4: 189-222.

1965 Attempted synthesis of data regarding divalent cations in muscle function. Muscle. W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton (Eds) p 295-313. Pergamon Press, London.

Davies, I. J. and K. J. Ryan 1972 Comparative endocrinology of gestation. Vitam. Horm. 30: 223-278.

- deGraaf, R. 1972 De mulierum organis generationi inservientibus. Hachiana, Leiden.
- Devine, C. E., A. V. Somlyo and A. P. Somlyo 1972 Sarcoplasmic reticulum and excitation contraction coupling in mammalian smooth muscles. J. Cell Biol. 52: 690-718.
- Dewar, A. D. 1968 Litter size and the duration of pregnancy Q. J. Exper. Physiol. 53: 155-161.
- Donaldson, L. E., J. M. Bassett and G. D. Thorburn 1970 Peripheral plasma progesterone concentration of cows during puberty, oestrous cycles, pregnancy and lactation, and the effects of undernutrition or exogenous oxytocin on progesterone concentration. J. Endocrinol. 48: 599-614.
- Durbin, R. P. and D. H. Jenkinson 1970 The calcium dependence of tension development in depolarised smooth muscle. J. Physiol., London. 157: 90-96.
- DuVigneaud, V., C. Ressler, J. M. Swann, C. W. Roberts and P. G. Katsoyannis 1954 The synthesis of oxytocin. J. Am. Chem.Soc. 76: 3115-3121.
- Ebashi, S. 1958 A granule bound relaxation factor in skeletal muscle. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 76: 410-423.

_____1961a Calcium binding activity of vesicular relaxing factor. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 50: 236-244.

1961b The role of 'Relaxation Factor' in contraction-relaxation cycle of muscle. Progr. Theoret. Phys. (Kyoto) Suppl. 17: 35-40.

1963 Third component participating in the superprecipitation of 'Natural Actomyosin'. Nature 200: 1010.

1965 Studies on the contractile system from a physiological point of view. Proc. Intern. Congr. Physiol. 23rd. Tokyo. p 405-407.

Ebashi, S. and F. Ebashi 1964 A new protein component participating in the superprecipitation of Myosin B. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 55: 604-613.

- Ebashi, S., F. Ebashi and Y. Fujie 1960 The effect of EDTA and its analogues on glycerinated muscle fibres and myosin Adenosinetriphosphatase. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 47: 54-59.
- Ebashi, S., F. Ebashi and A. Kodama 1967 Troponin as the Ca⁺⁺ receptive protein in the contractile system. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 62: 137-138.
- Ebashi, S. and M. Endo 1968 Calcium ion and muscle contraction. Prog. Biophys. Molec. Biol. 18: 123-184.
- Ebashi, S., H. Iwakura, H. Nakajima, R. Nakamura and Y. Ooi 1966 New structural proteins from dog heart and chicken gizzard. Biochem. Z. 345: 201-224.
- Ebashi, S. and A. Kodama 1965 A new protein factor promoting aggregation of tropomyosin. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 58: 107-108.

1966 Interaction of troponin with F-Actin in the presence of tropomyosin. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 59: 425-426.

- Ebashi, S. and F. Lipmann 1962 Adenosine triphosphatelinked concentration of calcium ions in a particular fraction of rabbit muscle. J. Cell. Biol. 14: 389-400.
- Edman, K. A. and H. O. Schild 1962 The need for calcium in the contractile responses induced by acetylcholine and potassium in the rat uterus. J. Physiol. 161: 424-441.
- Endo, M., T. Nomomura, I. Masaki, Ohtsuki and S. Ebashi 1966 Localization of native tropomyosin in relation to striation patterns. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 60: 605-608.
- Entman, M. L., G. S. Levey and S. E. Epstein 1969 Mechanism of action of norepinephrine and glucagon on the canine heart: evidence for increase in sarcotubular calcium stores mediated by 3' 5'-AMP. Circ. Res. 25: 429-438.
- Fanburg, B. 1964 Calcium in the regulation of heart muscle contraction and relaxation. Fed. Proc. 23: 922-925.
- Finn, C. A. and D. G. Porter 1975 In The Uterus, Elek Science, London p 237.

- Fleckenstein, A., J. Janke, R. E. Davies and H. A. Krebs 1954 Chemistry of muscle contraction. Nature 174: 1081-1083.
- Ford, G. D. 1976 Subcellular fractions of vascular smooth muscle exhibiting calcium transport properties. Fed. Proc. 35: 1298-1301.
- Fraenkel, L. 1903 Die function des Corpus Luteum. Arch. Gynaek. 68: 438-545.
- Frank, G. B. 1965 Calcium and other divalent ions in the contraction of skeletal muscle. Muscle. W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton (Eds) p 155 Pergamon Press, London.
- Frank, R. T., C. Bonham and R. G. Gustavson 1925 A new method of assaying the potency of female sex hormone based on its effect upon spontaneous contraction of the uterus of the white rat. Am. J. Physiol. 74: 395.
- Fuchs, A. R. 1964 Oxytocin and the onset of labour in rabbits. J. Endocr. 30: 217-224.
- Gabella, G. 1971 Caveolae intracellulares and sarcoplasmic reticulum in smooth muscle. J. Cell. Sci. 8: 601-609.
- Gaddum, J. H. 1926 The action of adrenalin and ergotamine on the uterus of the rabbit. J. Physiol. (London) 61: 141-150.
- Galvani, L. 1791 Le viribus electricitatis in motu musculari commentarius. Instituto scienze orti liberali, Bologna. 7: 363-418.
- George, W. J., R. D. Wilkerson and P. J. Kadowitz 1972 Influence of acetylcholine on contractile force and cyclic nucleotide levels in the isolated perfused rat heart. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 184: 228-235.
- Godfriand, T. and A. Kaba 1972 The role of calcium in the action of drugs on vascular smooth muscle. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 196: Suppl. 35-49.
- Godfriand, T. and N. Verbeke 1973 The action of adrenaline on calcium pump and adenosine triphosphatases activities of intestinal smooth muscle microsomes. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 204: 187-190.

- Goldberg, N. D., M. K. Haddox, D. K. Hartle and J. W. Hadden 1973 The biological role of cyclic 3' 5'-Guanosine Monophosphate. In Proceedings, 5th International Congress of Pharmacology, Vol. 5, 146. S. Karger, Basel, Switzerland.
- Goto, M. and A. I. Csapo 1959 The effect of ovarian steroids on the membrane potential of uterine muscle. J. Gen. Physiol. 43: 455-466.
- Greene, R. R., M. W. Burrill and A. C. Ivy 1940 The effects of oestrogens on the ante-natal development of the rat. Am. J. Anat. 67: 305.
- Grossman, A. and R. F. Furchott 1964 The effects of frequency of stimulation and calcium concentration on ⁴⁵Ca exchange and contractility in the isolated guinea pig auricle. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 143: 120-130.
- Gruber, C. M. 1933 The autonomic innervation of the genitourinary system. Physiol. Rev. 13: 497-609.
- Gustavsen, R. G. and H. B. Van Dyke 1931 Further observations on the pregnancy response of the uterus of the cat. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 41: 139-146.
- Hanson, J. and H. E. Huxley 1953 Structural basis of the cross striations in muscle. Nature 172: 530-532.
- Hanson, J. and J. Lowy 1963 The structure of F-actin and of actin filaments isolated from muscle. J. Mol. Biol. 6: 46-60.
- Harigaya, S. and A. Schwartz 1969 Rate of calcium binding and uptake in normal animal and failing human cardiac muscle. Circ. Res. 25: 781-794.
- Hartshorne, D. J., L. Abrams, M. Aksoy, R. Dabrowska, S. Driska and E. Sharkey 1977 Molecular basis for the regulation of smooth muscle actomyosin. In The biochemistry of smooth muscle, University Park Press, Baltimore pp 513-532.
- Hasselbach, W. and M. Makinose 1961 Die Calciumpumpe der "Erschlaffungsgrana" des Muskels und ihre Abhangigkeit von der ATP - spaltung. Biochem. Z. 333: 518-528.
 - 1962 ATP and active transport. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 7: 132-136.

Hasselbach, W. and M. Makinose 1963 Mechanisms of calcium transport through membranes of the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Biochem. Z. 339: 94-111.

1964a Biochemistry of muscle contraction. J. Gergely (Ed.). p 247. Little Brown, Boston, Massachusetts.

- Hasselbach, W. 1964b Relaxing factor and the relaxation of muscle. Progr. Biophys. and Biophys. Chem. 14: 169-222.
- Heckel, G. P. and W. M. Allen 1937 Prolongation of pregnancy in the rabbit by injection of progesterone. Am. J. Physiol. 119: 330-331.

1938 Inhibition of parturition in the rabbit by injection of estrogenic hormone. Am. J. Physiol. 123: 95.

1939 Maintenance of the corpus luteum and inhibition of parturition in the rabbit by injection of oestrogenic hormone. Endocrinology 24: 137-148.

- Heilbrunn, L. V. and F. J. Wiercinski 1947 The action of various cations on muscle contraction. J. Cell. Comp. Physiol. 29: 15-32.
- Herz, R. and A. Weber 1965 Caffeine inhibition of Ca uptake by muscle reticulum. Fed. Proc. 24: 208.
- Hess, M. L., F. N. Briggs, E. Shinebourne and J. Hamer 1968 Effect of adrenergic blocking agents on the calcium pump of the fragmented cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum.
- Hilliard, J., H. G. Spies and C. H. Sawyer 1968 Cholesterol storage and progestin secretion during pregnancy and pseudopregnancy in the rabbit. Endocrinology 82: 157-165.
- Huxley, A. F. and R. Niedergerke 1954 Structural changes in muscle during contraction. Nature 173: 971-973.
- Huxley, H. E. 1960 The cell. J. Brachet and A. E. Mirsky (Eds.) 4: 365. Academic Press, New York.
- Huxley, H. E. and J. Hanson 1954 Changes in the crossstriations of muscle during contraction and stretch and their structural interpretation. Nature 173: 973-976.

en en la deservación de la companya La companya de la comp

الم الم

and and a second sec Second second

- Huxley, H. E. and J. Hanson 1957 Quantitative studies of the structure of cross striated myofibrils. I. Investigations by interference microscopy. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 23: 229-249.
- Inesi, G., S. Eletr, D. G. Davis and N. Kimura 1974 Protein-lipid interaction and calcium transport in sarcoplasmic reticulum membrane. In Calcium Binding Proteins. Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam p 487.
- Inesi, G. and S. Watanabe 1967 Temperature dependence of ATP hydrolysis and calcium uptake by fragmented sarcoplasmic reticulum. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 121: 665-671.
- Jobsis, F. F. and M. J. O'Connor 1966 Calcium release and reabsorption in the sartorius muscle of the toad. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 25: 246-252.
- Katz, A. M., D. I. Repke, T. Michihiko and S. Corkedale 1974 Propanolol-induced inhibition of cardiac microsomal calcium uptake, calcium binding and epinephrinestimulated adenylate cyclase. Cardiovasc. Res. 8: 541-549.
- Katzenstein, F. C. 1938 Electrical excitability (Chronaxie) of the rat's uterus, throughout the estrus cycle. Endocrinology 22: 579-582.
- Kawasaki, A., T. Kashimoto and H. Yoshida 1969 Effects of 3' 5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate and its dibutyryl derivative on the motility of isolated rat ileum. Jap. J. Pharmacol. 19: 494.
- Keye, J. D. 1923 Periodic variations in spontaneous contractions of uterine muscle in relation to the oestrus cycle and early pregnancy. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 34: 60-62.
- Keyes, P. L. and A. V. Nalbandov 1967 Maintenance and function of corpora lutea in rabbits depend on estrogen. Endocrinology 80: 938-946.
- Kirchberger, M. A., M. Tada, D. I. Repke and A. M. Katz 1972 Cyclic adenosine 3' 5'-monophosphate dependent protein kinase stimulation of calcium uptake by canine cardiac microsomes. J. Mol. Cell. Card. 4: 673-680.

 $M_{\rm eff} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2}$

.

- Knaus, H. H. 1926 Action of pituitary extract upon the pregnant uterus of the rabbit. J. Physiol. 61: 383-397.
- Kominz, D. R. and K. Maruyama 1967 Does native tropomyosin bind to myosin? J. Biochem., Tokyo 61: 269-271.
- Krause, E. G., W. Hale, E. Kallibis and A. Wollenberger 1970 Positive chronotropil response of cultured isolated rat heart cells to N⁶, 2'-0-dibutyryl-3' 5'-adenosine monophosphate. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1: 1-10.
- Kukovetz, W. R. and G. Poch 1970 Cardiostimulatory effects of cyclic 3' 5' adenosine monophosphate and acylated derivatives. Arch. Pharmacol. Exp. Pathol. 266: 236-254.
- Kuriyama, H. A. and A. Csapo 1959 The evolution of membrane and myoplasmic activity. Biol. Bull. Woods Hole 117: 417-418.
- Langley, J. N. 1901 Observations on the physiological action of extracts of the supra-renal bodies. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 27: 237-256.
- Lin, Tsung-I. and M. F. Morales 1977 Application of a onestep procedure for measuring inorganic phosphate in the presence of proteins: The actomyosin ATPase system. Analytical Biochemistry 77: 10-17.
- Locke, F. S. and O. Rosenheim 1907 The consumption of dextrose by the mammalian cardiac muscle. J. Physiol. London 36: 205-220.
- Loewi, O. 1921 Uber humorale Ubertragbarkeit der Herznervenwirkung. I. Mitt. Pflugers Arch. ges. Physiol. 189: 239-242.
- Lorand, L. and J. Molnar 1962 Muscle as a tissue. p 97. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Lowry, O. H., N. J. Rosebrough, A. L. Farr and R. J. Randall 1951 Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193: 265-276.
- MacCorquodale, D. W., S. A. Thayer and E. Doisy 1936 The isolation of the principal estrogenic substance of liquor folliculi. J. Biol. Chem. 115: 435-448.

•

- Mann, W. and G. B. West 1951 The nature of uterine and intestinal sympathin. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 6: 79-82.
- Marsh, B. B. 1951 A factor modifying muscle fibre synaersis. Nature 167: 1065-1066.

1952 The effects of adenosine-triphosphate on the fibre volume of a muscle homogenate. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 9: 247-260.

Martonosi, A. 1963 The activating effects of phospholipids on the ATP-ase activity and Ca++ transport of fragmented sarcoplasmic reticulum. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 13: 273-278.

1964 Role of phosopholipids in ATPase activity and Ca transport of fragmented sarcoplasmic reticulum. Fed. Proc. 23: 913-921.

- Martonosi, A. and R. Feretos 1964 Sarcoplasmic reticulum I. The uptake of Ca⁺⁺ by sarcoplasmic reticulum fragments. J. Biol. Chem. 239: 648-658.
- Miller, J. W. 1967 Adrenergic receptors in the myometrium. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 139: 788-798.
- Miller, M. D. and J. M. Marshall 1965 Uterine response to nerve stimulation; relation to hormonal status and catecholamines. Am. J. Physiol. 209: 859-865.
- Mines, G. R. 1913 On functional analysis by the action of electrolytes. J. Physiol., London 46: 188-235.
- Mommaerts, W. F. H. M. 1955 Investigation of the presumed breakdown of adenosine-triphosphate and phoshocreatine during a single muscle twitch. Am. J. Physiol. 182: 585-593.
- Muscatello, U., E. Anderssen-Cedergren and G. F. Azzone 1962 The mechanism of muscle-fibre relaxation adenosine triphosphatase and relaxing activity of the sarcotubular system. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 63: 55-74.
- Nagai, T., K. Uchida and M. Yasuda 1962 Some further properties of the muscle relaxing-factor system and the separation of the effective substance. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 56: 205-215.

n talan talah sebelah s Talah sebelah s

Nayler, W. G. 1965 Calcium and other divalent ions in the contraction of cardiac muscle. Muscle. W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monchton (Eds.) p 167. Pergamon Press, New York.

1966 Influx and efflux of calcium in the physiology of muscle contraction. Clin. Orthop. Related Res. 46: 157-182.

- Newton, W. H. 1933 The normal behaviour of the isolated uterus of the guinea-pig and its reactions to oestrin and oxytocin. J. Physiol. 79: 301-316.
- Northover, B. J. 1968 The effect of drugs on the constriction of isolated depolarised blood vessels in response to calcium or barium. Br. J. Pharmacol. 34: 417-428.
- Ohnishi, T. and S. Ebashi 1964 The velocity of calcium binding of isolated sarcoplasmic reticulum. J. Biochem., Tokyo 55: 599-603.
- O'Malley, B. W. and W. L. McGuire 1969 Progesterone-induced synthesis of a new species of nuclear RNA. Endocrinology 84: 63-68.
- Ostwald, T. J. and D. H. Maclennan 1974 Isolation of a high affinity calcium binding protein from sarcoplasmic reticulum. J. Biol. Chem. 249: 974-979.
- Palmer, R. F. and V. A. Posey 1970 Calcium and adenosine triphosphate binding to renal membranes. J. Gen Physiol. 55: 89-103.
- Parkes, A. S. 1930 On the synergism between oestrin and oxytocin. J. Physiol. 613: 463-472.
- Parkes, A. S. and C. W. Bellerby 1927 Studies on the internal secretions of the ovary. II. The effects of injection of the oestrus producing hormone during pregnancy. J. Physiol. 62: 145-155.
- Peachey, L. D. 1968 Muscle. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 30: 401-440.
- Peachey, L. D. and K. R. Porter 1959 Intracellular impulse conduction in muscle cells. Science 129: 721-749.

na in the second sec Second second

n de la companya de l

 $\phi_{1,2}(x) = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2$

- Pepe, F. A. 1966 Some aspects of the structural organization of the myofibril as revealed by antibody staining methods. J. Cell. Biol. 28: 505-525.
- Perry, S. V. and J. C. Grey 1956 Ethylenediaminetetraacetate and the adenosine triphosphatase activity of actomyosin systems. Biochem. J. 64: 5P.
- Porter, D. G. 1968 Observations on the development of blastocysts in ectopic sites and the factors involved in the maintenance of pregnancy. Ph.D. Thesis, University of London.
 - 1972 Myometrium of the pregnant guinea-pig: the probable importance of relaxin. Biol. Reprod. 7: 458-464.
- 1974 Myometrial regulation in the pregnant rabbit: evidence for a "new" hormone. Biol. Reprod. 10: 54-61.
- Porter, D. G., R. Becker and A. Csapo 1968 On the mechanism of action of intra-amniotic hypertonic saline treatment. J. Reprod. Fertil. 17: 433-442.
- Porter, D. G. and J. R. G. Challis 1975 In Biology of the Uterus. Ed. Wynn. Plenum Press, New York (1977) p 687.
- Porter, K. R. and G. E. Pallade 1957 Studies on the endoplasmic reticulum. III. Its form and distribution in striated muscle cells. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 3: 269-300.
- Portman, K. 1934 De l'action de l'hormone du corps jaune sur la duree de la gestation chez la lapine. C. R. Soc. Biol. Paris 115: 89.
- Portzehl, H., P. C. Caldwell and J. C. Ruegg 1964 The dependence of contraction and relaxation of muscle fibres from the crab Maia squinado on the internal concentration of free calcium ions. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 79: 581-591.
- Prenant, A. 1898 De la valeur morphologique du corps jaune, son action physiologoque et therapeutique. Rev. Gen. Sci. 9: 646-650.

- Pretorius, P. J., W. H. Pohl, C. S. Smithen and G. Inesi 1969 Structural and functional characterization of dog heart microsomes. Circ. Res. 25: 487-499.
- Prince, W. T., M. J. Berridge and H. Rasmussen 1972 Role of calcium and adenosine 3' 5'-cyclic monophosphate in controlling fly salivary gland secretion. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69: 553-557.
- Rasmussen, H. and N. Nagata 1970 Renal gluconeogenesis: effects of parathyroid hormone and dibutyryl 3' 5'-AMP. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 215: 17-28.
- Rasmussen, H. and D. B. P. Goodman 1975 Calcium and cAMP as interrelated intracellular messengers. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 253: 789-796.
- Repke, D. and A. Katz 1972 Calcium-binding and calciumuptake by cardiac microsomes: A kinetic analysis. J. Mol. Cell. Card. 4: 401-416.
- Reynolds, S. R. M. 1930 Studies on the uterus. I. A method for recording uterine activity in chronic experiments on unanaesthetized animals. Amer. J. Physiol. 92: 420-429.
- Reynolds, S. R. M. 1933 Action of theelol (tri-hydroxyoestrin) on uterine fistulae in the unanaesthetized rabbit. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. Med. 30: 1165.

1935 A predisposing factor for the normal onset of labour: the probable role of oestrin. Amer. J. Obst. Gynec. 29: 630.

_____1949 Physiology of the uterus. Hoeber, New York.

Ringer, S. 1882 Concerning the influence exerted by each of the constituents of the blood on the contraction of the ventricle. J. Physiol., London. 3: 380-393.

1883a A further contribution regarding the influence of different constituents of the blood on the contraction of the heart. J. Physiol., London. 4: 29-42.

1883b A third contribution regarding the influence of the inorganic constituents of the blood on the ventricular contraction. J. Physiol., London. 4: 222-225.

- Ringer, S. 1886 Further experiments regarding the influence of small quantities of lime, potassium and other salts on muscular tissue. J. Physiol., London. 7: 291-308.
- Robson, J. M. 1933 Effect of oestrin on the reactivity and spontaneous activity of the rabbit's uterus. J. Physiol. 79: 139.

1935a Effect of oestrin on uterine reactivity and its relation to experimental abortion and parturition. J. Physiol. 84: 121-132.

1935b The response of the uterus of hypophysectomized rabbits to extracts of the corpus luteum. J. Physiol. 84: 296-307.

1937 Maintenance of pregnancy and of the luteal function in the hypophysectomised rabbit. J. Physiol. 90: 145.

1939 Maintenance of pregnancy in the hypophysectomized rabbit by administration of oestrin. J. Physiol. 95: 83-91.

- Rubin, R. P. 1970 The role of calcium in the release of neurotransmitter substances and hormones. Pharmacol. Rev. 22: 389-428.
- Rudolph, L. and A. C. Ivy 1930 The physiology of the uterus in labor. Am. J. Obstet. Gynec. 19: 317-335.
- Sandow, A. 1965 Excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle. Pharm. Rev. 17: 265-320.
- Sauer, J., C. E. Jett-Jackson and S. R. M. Reynolds 1935 Reactivity of the uterus to pre-sacral nerve stimulation and to epinephrine, pituitrin and pilocarpine administration during certain sexual states in the anesthetized rabbit. Am. J. Physiol. 111: 250-256.
- Scales, B. and D. A. D. McIntosh 1968 Effects of propanolol and its optical isomers on the radiocalcium uptake and the adenosine triphosphatases of the skeletal and cardiac reticulum fractions. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 160: 261-267.
- Schatzmann, H. J. 1961 Calciumaufnahme und Abgabe am Darmuskel des Meerschweinchens. Plugers Arch. 274: 295-310.

....

a secondaria de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya. La companya de la comp

- Schild, H. O. 1967 The action of isoprenaline in the depolarised rat uterus. Brit. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 31: 578-592.
- Schofield, B. M. 1954 The influence of estrogen and progesterone on the isometric tension of the uterus in the intact rabbit. Endocrinology 55: 142-147.

1957 The hormonal control of myometrial function during pregnancy. J. Physiol. 138: 1-10.

1960 Hormonal control of pregnancy by the ovary and placenta in the rabbit. J. Physiol. 151: 578-590.

1962 The effect of injected oestrogen on pregnancy in the rabbit. J. Endocr. 25: 95-100.

- Seelig, J. and W. Hasselbach 1971 A spin label study of sarcoplasmic vesicles. Europ. J. Biochem. 21: 17-21.
- Seidel, J. C. 1964 Comments on the existence of a soluble relaxing substance and on cofactors of the relaxation of muscle. Federation Proc. 23: 901-902.
- Shinebourne, E. A. and R. J. White 1970 Cyclic AMP and calcium uptake of the sarcoplasmic reticulum in relation to increased rate of relaxation under the influence of catecholamines. Cardiovas. Res. 4: 194-200.
- Skelton, C. L., G. S. Levey and S. E. Epstein 1970 Positive inotropic effects of dibutyryl cyclic 3' 5'-monophosphate. Circ. Res. 26: 35-43.
- Sobieszek, A. and R. D. Bremel 1975 Preparation and properties of vertebrate smooth-muscle myofibrils and actomyosin. Eur. J. Biochem. 55: 49-60.
- Somlyo, A. P. and A. V. Somlyo 1968 Vascular smooth muscle. I. Normal structure, pathology, biochemistry and biophysics. Pharmacol. Rev. 20: 197-272.

1976 Ultrastructural aspects of activation and contraction of vascular smooth muscle. Federation Proc. 35: 1288-1293.

Somlyo, A. P., A. V. Somlyo, C. E. Devine, P. D. Peters and T. A. Hall 1974 Electron microscopy and electron probe analysis of mitochondrial cation accumulation in smooth muscle. J. Cell. Biol. 61: 723-742.

- ·

- Somlyo, A. P., A. V. Somlyo, C. E. Devine and R. V. Rice 1971 Aggregation of thick filaments into ribbons in mammalian smooth muscle. Nature New Biol. 231: 243-246.
- Straub, F. B. 1942 G- and F-actin and the effect of ATP. Stud. Inst. Med. Chem. Univ. Szeged 2: 3-16.
- Straub, W. 1912 Die Bedeutung der Zellmembran fur die Wirkung chemischer Stoffe auf den Organismus. Verh. Ges. dt. Naturf. Artze 84: 1.
- Steer, M. L., D. Atlas and A. Levitzki 1975 Inter-relations between beta adrenergic receptors, adenylate cyclase and calcium. New Eng. J. Med. 292: 409-414.
- Sutherland, E. W. and T. W. Rall 1958 Fractionation and characterization of a cyclic adenine ribonucleotide formed by tissue particles. J. Biol. Chem. 232: 1077-1091.
- Szent-Gyorgyi, A. 1945 Studies on muscle. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 9: Suppl. 25: 3-115.

1948 Nature of life. Academic Press, New York.

- Tada, M., M. A. Kirchberger, D. I. Repke and A. M. Katz 1974 The stimulation of calcium transport in cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum by adenosine 3' 5'-monophosphate-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 249: 6174-6180.
- Tomiyama, A., I. Takayanagi and K. Takagi 1974 Relationships between Ca²⁺ uptake by a microsomal fraction of guinea-pig taenia caecum and its relaxation. Biochem. Pharmacol. 24: 9-12.
- Walaas, O. 1950 The effect of estrogenic hormone on the content of calcium and magnesium in the uterus. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 21: 27-33.
- Walaas, E. and O. Walaas 1970 The effect of epinephrine and dibutyryl 3' 5'-cyclic AMP on the incorporation of ³²p inorganic phosphate into adenine nucleotides and quanine nucleotides of the intact isolated rat diaphragm. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 78: 393-403.
- Waugh, W. H. 1962 Role of calcium in contractile excitation of vascular smooth muscle by epinephrine. Circ. Res. 11: 927-940.

 A second sec second sec

- Weber, A. 1959 On the role of calcium in the activity of adenosine 5'-triphosphate hydrolysis by actomyosin. J. Biol. Chem. 234: 2764-2769.
- Weber, A. and R. Herz 1963 The binding of calcium to actomyosin systems in relation to their biological activity. J. Biol. Chem. 238: 599-605.
- Weber, A., R. Herz and I. Reiss 1964a Study of the kinetics of calcium transport by isolated fragmented sarcoplasmic reticulum. Biochem. Z. 345: 329-369.
 - 1964b The regulation of myofibrillar activity by calcium. Proc. Roy. Soc. B. 160: 489-499.
- Westman, A. and D. Jacobsohn 1937 Uber Ostrin-Wirkungen auf die Corpus-luteum-Funktion. Acta. Obst. Gynec. Scand. 17: 1-133.
- White, R. and E. Shinebourne 1969 The interaction of sympathetic stimulation and blocade on the calcium uptake of the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Cardiovas. Research 3: 245-248.
- Wikstrom, M. 1974 Interaction of progesterone with mitochondrial membrane. J. Steroid Biochem. 5: 348.
- Williams, L. T. and R. J. Lefkowitz 1976 Molecular pharmacology of alpha adrenergic receptors: Utilization of (³H) dihydroergocryptine binding in the study of pharmacological receptor alterations. Mol. Pharmacol. 13: 304-313.
- Winegrad, S. 1968 Intracellular calcium movements of frog skeletal muscle during recovery from tetanus. J. Gen. Physiol. 51: 65-83.
- Wintersteiner, O. and W. M. Allen 1934 Crystalline Progestin. J. Biol. Chem. 107: 321.
- Wu, D. H. and W. M. Allen 1959 Maintenance of pregnancy in castrated rabbits by 174-hydroxy-progesterone caproate and by progesterone. Fertil. Steril. 10: 439-460.
- vanBreeman, C., B. R. Farinas, R. Casteels, P. Gerba, F. Wuytack and R. Deth 1973 Factors controlling cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentration. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London, Ser. B. 265: 57.

(a) Provide the state of t Zarrow

Zarrow, M. X. and B. Rosenberg 1953 Sources of relaxin in the rabbit. Endocrinology 53: 593-598.


FOR REFERENCE

NOT TO BE TAKEN FROM THE ROOM

